
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 16 April 2019

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 24 APRIL 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Members of the Committee:
Toby Newman (Chairman)
Anthony Dearlove (Vice-
Chairman)
Joan Bland
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Mocky Khan
Jeannette Matelot
David Nimmo-Smith
Ian Snowdon

David Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Nigel Champken-Woods
Steve Connel

Sue Cooper
Stefan Gawrysiak

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

Public Document Pack



2

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 16)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on 28 March and 10 April 2019.  

4 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

6 Proposals for site visits  

7 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page



3

8 P18/S3531/FUL 
- Unit 3, 
Wenman Road, 
Thame  

Change of Use from B8 (Storage 
and Distribution) to D2 (Indoor 
Sports and Leisure) incorporating 
internal and external alterations (car 
parking redesigned, cycle stands 
amended, disabled access ramp and 
delivery door added and internal 
layout altered, as shown on 
amended plans and additional 
information received 23rd November 
2018 and gym timetable submitted 
17th January 2019, and provision of 
ramped fire exits as shown on 
amended plans received 8th 
February 2019).

17 - 32

9 P18/S2735/LB - 
Various Listed 
Buildings, 
Thame Town 
Centre, Thame  

Production and installation of 
commemorative plaques denoting 
the use of 6 listed buildings in 
Thame as filming locations for the 
Midsomer Murders series.

33 - 56

10 P18/S1830/FUL 
- Croxford's 
Orchard, 
Sydenham 
Road, 
Sydenham, 
OX39 4NE  

Construction of a new barn (as 
amended by plans received 4 
September 2018, re-siting the barn a 
metre to the south, reducing its 
length by two metres, reducing its 
height and altering the design and 
materials to a feather-edged 
boarding over a brick plinth wall and 
plain clay roof tiles).

57 - 66

11 P18/S4320/FUL 
- 170 Greys 
Road, Henley-
on-Thames, 
RG9 1QR  

Proposed new dwelling (as amended 
by revised plans received 22 
February 2019, reducing the depth 
of the proposed front gable, reducing 
the number of bedrooms and 
amending the parking areas).

67 - 78

12 P18/S4111/FUL 
& 
P18/S4112/LB - 
1a Cornmarket, 
Thame, OX9 
3DX  

Change of use of premises from 
retail (A1 use) to a 2-bedroom 
dwelling (C3 use) incorporating 
external alterations.  Internal and 
external alterations to facilitate 
conversion of retail premises to a 2-
bedroom dwelling.  

79 - 88

13 P19/S0095/FUL 
- Windrush 
Bridge Terrace, 
Thame, OX9 
3LU  

Variation of condition 2 on 
application P15/S3607/FUL, to 
permit the introduction of 5 rooflights 
to facilitate loft conversions 

89 - 96



4

(demolition of existing dwelling at 
Windrush and erection of pair of 
semi-detached dwellings and one 
detached dwelling).



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON THURSDAY 28 MARCH 2019 AT 6.00 PM

THE FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, BENSON LANE, 
WALLINGFORD OX10 8BA

Present:

Toby Newman (Chairman)

Anthony Dearlove, Elaine Hornsby, Mocky Khan, David Turner and Ian White

Apologies:

Joan Bland, Lorraine Hillier, Jeannette Matelot, David Nimmo-Smith and Ian Snowdon 
tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Paul Bateman, Sharon Crawford, Will Darlison, Simon Kitson, Marc Pullen, and Tom Wyatt

Also present:

Nigel Champken-Woods substitute for Lorraine Hillier.

213 Chairman's announcements 

The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

214 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

215 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

216 Proposals for site visits 

There were no proposals for site visits.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

217 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting.

218 P18/S3868/FUL - 11 St Martins Street, Wallingford, OX10 0AL 

The committee noted that application P18/S3868/FUL had been deferred pending further 
information.  This application was for the demolition of existing retail units and construction 
of new retail space with 8 retirement apartments above and associated parking at 11 St 
Martins Street Wallingford, OX10 0AL.

219 P18/S4243/FUL - Hill Cottage High Street, Kingston Blount, OX39 
4SJ 

The committee considered application P18/S4243/FUL for the variation of condition 2 
(drawings) on application ref. P17/S4288/FUL to incorporate design changes, for the 
demolition of Hill Cottage and stable, the erection of new detached dwelling, the provision 
of new approach drive, landscaping, fencing and other related works at Hill Cottage, High 
Street, Kingston Blount.  

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Ian White, as local ward councillor, stood down from the Committee for consideration of 
this item.

Steven Sowerby and Adam Bernstein, representatives of Aston Rowant Parish Council, 
spoke objecting to the application.

Henry Venners, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.

Ian White, the local ward councillor, addressed the committee on this application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to delegate authority to grant planning permission to the 
head of planning was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S4243/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions:

1. That the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
details shown on the approved plans, except as controlled or modified by conditions 
of this permission

2. The proposal is to be implemented in accordance with the previously approved 
schedule of external materials. Any variation to be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

3. No extensions, roof extensions or outbuildings as described in Schedule 2, Part 1, 
Class A, B and E of the GPDO shall be erected without obtaining planning 
permission from the Local Planning Authority.

Page 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3868/FUL


3

4. No gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure as described in Schedule 2, Part 
2, Class A of the GPDO shall be erected within the site without obtaining planning 
permission from the Local Planning Authority.

5. The previously approved landscaping measures shall be implemented prior to the 
first occupation and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved plans.

6. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed means of 
access onto the highway is to be formed and laid out in accordance with the local 
highway authority's specifications

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a turning area and 
car parking spaces shall be provided within the curtilage of the site in accordance 
with the approved site plan

8. The off-site highway works shall be implemented in full before the first 
occupation/use of the development or in accordance with a programme of 
implementation agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority and retained in 
use.

9. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the previously 
approved Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) shall be implemented 
throughout the course of the development

10. Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, the spoil arising from the formation of the 
basement shall be disposed of strictly in accordance with the previously agreed 
details.

11. Obscure glazing is to be applied to the bathroom windows in the north-east elevation 
prior to first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved and retained as such 
thereafter.

220 P18/S3710/FUL - Willows Reach, Mill Lane, Shiplake, RG9 3LY 

The committee considered application P18/S3710/FUL for the variation of condition 2 - 
approved plans on application ref P18/S1092/FUL, for the variation of condition 2 
(approved plans) of planning permission P17/S2985/FUL (Demolition of existing dwelling 
and erection of replacement dwelling) to increase overall building height, infill extension to 
the north side of the ground floor and to the south side of the first floor, infilling the existing 
structure to the side of the requested visual screen at Willows Reach, Mill Lane, Shiplake.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 

A motion, moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S3710/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Development to be implemented in accordance with approved plans 
2. Materials to be those as previously agreed by application ref. P18/S1947/DIS
3. Solid visual screen to be retained at 1.7 metres high

Page 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1947/DIS


4

4. Prevention of overlooking; west facing first floor windows to be positioned at 
least 1.7 metres from internal floor height

5. Tree Protection details to be implemented in accordance with details agreed 
by application ref. P18/S1947/DIS

6. Development to be carried out in accordance with FRA part 1
7. Development to be carried out accordance with FRA part 2
8. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions, alterations and 

outbuildngs (Classes A, B, C and E)

Informatives: 
1. Construction plant, materials etc. not to block public right of way
2. Ecology licence(s) needed if protected species is affected by development

221 P18/S2989/HH- 85 Reading Road, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 1AX 

The committee considered application P18/S2989/HH for a single storey extension to front 
entrance, side extension to first floor and roof space including gable end, dormer to rear 
and amended roof to existing rear extension from pitched to flat roof to allow for proposed 
dormer and terrace to roof space, and internal changes to suit proposed layout (as 
amended by plan received 2018_11_21 to reduce the size of first floor extension, reduce 
the size of the rear dormer, reduce size of the ground floor front extension and to remove 
second floor balcony to the rear) at 85 Reading Road, Henley-on-Thames.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 

Ken Arlett, a representative of Henley–on-Thames Town Council, had registered to speak 
on this application. He was not present at the meeting but had emailed the committee with 
his views.

A motion, moved and seconded, to delegate authority to grant planning permission was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S2989/HH, subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commence development within three years of this permission.
2. Development to be built in accordance with approved plans.
3. External materials to be in accordance with those identified on plan. 
4. New first floor, side, facing windows to be obscure glazed and fixed shut with  the 

exception of a top hung openable fanlight no lower than internal floor height of 1.7 
metres.

222 P18/S3174/FUL - 85 Littleworth Road, Wheatley, OX33 1NW 

Toby Newman, the local ward councillor, stepped down from the committee and took no 
part in the debate or voting for this item. Anthony Dearlove took the chair for this item.

The committee considered application P18/S3174/FUL for demolition of the existing 
dwelling, the erection two detached dwellings with associated parking, new vehicular 
access (as amended by drawing nos 1127 - 13, 1127 - 14, 1127 - 15, 1127 - 16 and 1127 - 
17 received on 28 November 2018 to alter the design of the dwelling and the parking 

Page 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1947/DIS


5

configuration and drawing no 1127 - 1C and revised Design and Access Statement 
received on 2 January 2019), at 85 Littleworth Road, Wheatley.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Toby Newman, the local ward councillor, spoke to the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S3174/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions: 

1 : Commencement three years - full planning permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Materials as stated within Design and Access Statement
4 : Obscure glazing 
5 : New vehicular access 
6 : Close existing access (a) 
7 : Vision splay dimensions
8 : Reduce Gravel Spread onto Highway
9 : Turning Area & Car Parking
10 :  No Surface Water Drainage to Highway
11 : Surface water drainage works (details required)
12 : Foul drainage works (details required)
13 : No deposit of spoil or materials
14 : Bats Informative – Short
15 : Oxfordshire County Council formal approval informative
16 : Section 151 Highways Act informative
17 : Section 137 Highwats Act 1980 informative

223 P18/S4288/FUL - Ridgewood, Great Mead, East Hagbourne, Oxon, 
OX11 9BN 

The committee considered application P18/S4288/FUL for dismantling of existing barn and 
construction of a new building of a similar size, design and siting for use as a dwelling at 
Ridgewood, Great Mead, East Hagbourne.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that the Countryside Officer had no objections subject to the 
addition of the detailed bat informative.
The planning officer provided clarification for the report with respect to Section 4 Planning 
History; P18/S0120/O, application for 78 dwellings, is the adjacent site to the south on the 
other side of the public footpath.

David Rickeard, a representative of East Hagbourne Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.

Michael Way, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
Page 9



6

A motion, moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S4288/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions:

1 : Commencement three years - full planning permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Materials as on plan
4 : Vision splay details 
5 : Turning Area & Car Parking
6 : Refuse & Recycling Storage (Details required)
7 : Withdraw permitted development rights Classes A and B
8 : Withdraw permitted development rights Class E

The meeting closed at 7.20 pm

Chairman Date

Page 10



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 10 APRIL 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Toby Newman (Chairman)

Anthony Dearlove, Joan Bland, Lorraine Hillier, Elaine Hornsby, Mocky Khan, Jeannette 
Matelot, David Nimmo-Smith, Ian Snowdon and David Turner

Apologies:

Ian White tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Paul Bateman, Emma Bowerman, Sharon Crawford, Paula Fox, Kim Gould and Lloyd 
Jones

Also present: 

Anna Badcock, John Walsh

224 Chairman's announcements 

The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

225 Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2019 as correct 
record and agree that the Chairman sign these as such.

226 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



2

227 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

228 Proposals for site visits 

There were no proposals for site visits.

229 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting.

230 P17/S3231/O - Land at Britwell Road Watlington 

The committee considered application P17/S3231/O, a hybrid application comprising (1) 
full planning permission for the demolition of the existing pig farm and its associated 
buildings; the erection of 183 dwellings (Use Class C3); the creation of a new vehicular 
access from Britwell Road; the creation of a vehicular access from the industrial estate 
road south of Cuxham Road (to serve the proposed employment area); public open space; 
sustainable urban drainage system; landscaping; and other ancillary works, including off-
site highway works; and (2) outline permission for up to 650sqm of Use Class B1(a) 
floorspace, with access and all other matters reserved, on land at Britwell Road 
Watlington.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Gill Bindoff, a representative of Watlington Parish Council, outlined the Parish Council’s 
position and explained that they had no objection to the repeat application.

Tim Horton, Liz Harris and Mike Gardner, local residents, spoke, objecting to the 
application.

Anna Badcock, the local ward councillor, addressed the committee on this item.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the officers’ recommendation that, had the 
council determined the application, they would have refused planning permission, was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: Having regard to the current appeal against non-determination, officers 
recommended that had the council determined application P17/S3231/O, it would have 
refused planning permission for the following reasons:

1. That the traffic arising from the development would add to the residual cumulative 
impacts on the local road network, most notably through Watlington Town Centre.  
The proposal would increase congestion and delays and would be harmful to 
highway safety.  The proposal is therefore contrary to the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Policy CSM2 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policy T1 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011, and Policies P2 and site-specific Policy Site A 
of the Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan.

Page 12



3

2. That the proposed development would increase congestion and delays within 
Watlington Town Centre and would have a severe adverse impact on Watlington’s 
Air Quality Management Area.  The proposal is therefore contrary to the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policy CSM1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, 
Policy EP1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011, and Policy P2 of the 
Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan.

3. In the absence of a completed S106 legal agreement, the proposal fails to secure 
affordable housing to meet the needs of the District.  As such, the development 
would be contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CSH3 of the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and Policy Site A of the Watlington 
Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

4. In the absence of a completed Section 106 legal agreement, the proposal fails to 
secure infrastructure necessary to meet the needs of the development. As such, the 
development would be contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy 
CSI1 and CSM2 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and Policies T1, D10, D12, 
R2 and R6 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

231 P18/S3868/FUL - 11 St Martins Street, Wallingford, OX10 0AL 

Elaine Hornsby, a local ward councillor, stood down from the Committee for consideration 
of this item.

The committee considered application P18/S3868/FUL for the demolition of existing retail 
units and construction of new retail space with 8 retirement apartments above and 
associated parking, at 11 St. Martins Street, Wallingford.

Consideration of this application had been deferred by the Committee at its meeting on 28 
March 2019, to allow for additional information to be published.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Officer update: there would be a recommendation to include a further condition requiring 
the agreement of a Construction Traffic Management Plan.

Councillor Adrian Lloyd, a representative of Wallingford Town Council, spoke, objecting to 
the application.

Chris Thompson, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

Elaine Hornsby, a local ward councillor, addressed the committee on this application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to authorise the head of planning to approve the 
application was declared carried on being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED: to authorise the head of planning to grant planning permission for application 
P18/S3868/FUL subject to the following conditions:

i) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the provision of retirement 
housing and financial contributions, and

Page 13



4

ii) The following conditions:

1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Sample materials required (all)
4 : Parking and Manoeuvring to be provided and retained 
5 : Cycle Parking Facilities
6 : Noise attenuation (external noise and plant equipment)
7 : Hours of operation
8 : Electric Vehicle Charging Point
9 : Bin store enclosure details
10 : Archaeology (Submission and implementation of Written Scheme of Investigation)
11 : Air Quality
12. Construction Traffic Management Plan.

232 P18/S3705/FUL - Land North of Beckley Court, Beckley, 
Oxfordshire 

The committee considered application P18/S3705/FUL for a proposed new 3 bed dwelling 
on land North of Beckley Court, Beckley.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Councillor Ginette Camps-Walsh, a representative of Beckley and Stowood Parish 
Council, spoke, objecting to the application.

Clare Reed, spoke on behalf of a neighbour, objecting to the application.

Mina Samangooei, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.

John Walsh, the local ward councillor, addressed the committee on this application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; To grant planning permission for application P18/S3705/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1 :   Commencement three years - full planning permission
2 :   Approved plans 
3 :   Schedule of materials required (all)
4 :   Landscaping (including hardsurfacing and boundary treatment)
5 :   Hours of operation - construction/demolition sites
6:    Drainage works (details required)
7 :   New vehicular access
8:    Close existing access
9 :   Vision splay protection 
10 : Parking and Manoeuvring Areas Retained 
11 : No Surface Water Drainage to Highway
12 : Obscure glaze first floor windows in southern elevation
13:  Remove Permitted Development rights to extend or alter

Page 14



5

233 P18/S2809/O - Bayswater Farm Road, Headington 

The committee considered application P18/S2809/O for the erection of one dwelling house 
accessed from Bayswater Farm Road, at Bayswater Farm Road, Headington.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Mr Leeding, a representative of Forest Hill with Shotover Parish Council, spoke objecting 
to the application.

Jacqueline Butt, Janette Galbraith and Aaron Cousins, local residents, spoke objecting to 
the application.

Vikki Roe, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.

John Walsh, the local ward councillor, addressed the committee on this application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to defer the application subject to a site visit, was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: that consideration of this application be deferred, pending a site visit.

234 P19/S0629/FUL - 6 Thame Road, Great Milton, OX44 7HY 

The committee considered application P19/S0629/FUL, which was a re-submission of 
application P18/S4096/FUL, for a new detached dwelling on an infill plot next to 6 Thame 
Road, Great Milton.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Adrian Smith, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to refuse the application was declared carried on being 
put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P19/S0629/FUL for the 
following reason:

The Development Plan identifies appropriate locations for new development. New 
buildings within the Green Belt will not be allowed unless the development falls within 
strictly defined criteria. Great Milton is one of the villages within the District where infill 
development may be allowed. In this case, the site lies outside the built-up limits of Great 
Milton within the Green Belt where infill is not acceptable. As such, it would not be 
considered as an appropriate location for new residential development. The NPPF advises 
that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the openness of the Green Belt 
unless there are very special circumstances which outweigh that harm. No very special 
circumstances exist in this instance. The provision of a new dwelling on this site would 
consolidate a row of houses outside the main body of the village and would have a greater 
impact on the openness than the current use. As such, the proposal is contrary to advice 

Page 15



6

in the NPPF, policies CSR1 and CSEN 3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and 
saved policy GB4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan.

235 P19/S0306/HH - 14 St Marys Close, Henley-On-Thames, RG9 1RD 

The committee considered application P19/S0306/HH, for the demolition of the existing 
rear extension and the erection of a single storey side and rear extension at 14 St Marys 
Close Henley-on-Thames.

Joan Bland and Lorraine Hillier, as local ward councillors, stood down from the Committee 
for consideration of this item.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Martin Coward, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on being 
put to the vote.

RESOLVED: To grant planning permission for application P19/S0306/HH subject to the 
following conditions:

1: Commencement of development within three years
2: Development to be in accordance with the approved plans
3: Matching materials to be used

The meeting closed at 8.30 pm

Chairman Date

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S3531/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 22.10.2018
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS David Dodds & Nigel Champken-Woods &

Jeannette Matelot
APPLICANT Invictus Fitness
SITE Unit 3, Wenman Road, Thame
PROPOSAL Change of Use from B8 (Storage and Distribution) to 

D2 (Indoor Sports and Leisure) incorporating 
internal and external alterations (car parking 
redesigned, cycle stands amended, disabled access 
ramp and delivery door added and internal layout 
altered as shown on amended plans and additional 
information received 23rd November 2018 and gym 
timetable submitted 17th January 2019 and 
provision of ramped fire exits as shown on amended 
plans received 8th February 2019).

OFFICER Paul Lucas

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is refused. This report explains how 

officers have reached this conclusion. The application is referred to planning 
committee at the discretion of the Planning Manager.

1.2 The application site is identified at Appendix A. It comprises a building last used as 
carpet warehouse, falling within the B8 Use Class (Storage and Distribution) within an 
established industrial area on the northern side of Wenman Road. The building 
occupies most of the site with the open space around the building mostly consisting of 
concrete hardstanding used for parking and to enable delivery vehicles to access the 
eastern side of the building. There are buildings in employment use on either side of 
the site. The site has been disused for over 12 months. The site is identified as being 
within an employment designation in the Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP). There 
are no other designations on the site. Since the building was last occupied, the 
residential development allocated under Site C of the TNP has been constructed on 
the south side of Wenman Road.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the change of use of the premises 

from storage and distribution (B8 use) to indoor sports and leisure (D2 use) 
incorporating internal and external alterations. During the application process, amended 
plans have been submitted to remove references to commercial and hairdresser 
elements from the proposal, redesign the car parking, introduce cycle parking and 
disabled access ramps and addition of a delivery door added and to adjust the internal 
layout.

2.2 The current application plans are shown at Appendix B. Other supporting documents 
can be found on the Council’s website.

Page 17

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3531/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S3531/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council – The application should be refused:

 The proposal is contrary to Thame Neighbourhood Plan Policy WS12 in
proposing a change of use in employment floorspace and land. The loss of a
unit with “B” class employment is not outweighed by the provision of sports
facilities, for which there is no identified need in the short to mid-term;

 Core Strategy T2 – Parking in line with the District’s maximum parking
standards.

Economic Development – Support - complies with both SOLP 2011 Policy E6 and 
TNP Policy WS12 in relation to loss of employment

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – Refusal Recommended 
due to on-site parking shortfall resulting in conditions prejudicial to highway safety 

Contaminated Land - No objection

Equalities Officer - No objection to amended plans

Leisure Service - No objection to amended plans

Food Safety - No strong views

Environmental Protection Team - No objection

Neighbours – 135 representations of support for the additional indoor leisure space 
that this enterprise would bring to Thame and the health and community benefits that 
would arise. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 Numerous applications, but none that are of direct relevance to the current application.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEM1 -  Supporting a successful economy
CSM1 -  Transport
CSQ2 -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3 -  Design
CSS1 -  The Overall Strategy
CSTHA1 -  The Strategy for Thame

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
CF2 -  Provision of additional community facilities
D1    Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D7  -  Access for all
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
EP2 -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G5  -  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
R3  -  Indoor sport facilities in built up areas
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

5.3 Thame Neighbourhood Plan policies;
WS12 - Retain existing employment land in employment
use

5.4 Other relevant documents:
The Thame Sports Facility Strategy, 2015 (TSFS)
The SODC Sports and Leisure Strategy, 2017 (SLS) – December 2018 Addendum

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
109. Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 70(2) of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that applications for planning 
permission be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The planning issues that are relevant to this 
application are whether the proposed change of use would:

 Provide a leisure use for which there is an identified need in a suitable location;
 result in an acceptable loss of an employment use;
 have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the site and its 

surroundings;
 safeguard the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers;
 include adequate off-street parking and turning arrangements and prevent any 

conditions prejudicial to highway safety; and
 give rise to any other material planning considerations.

6.2 Principle of Development – New Leisure Use
The site lies within the built-up confines of the town of Thame. The SOCS Policy 
CSTHA1 Criterion (i) seeks to identify sites suitable for future retail leisure and 
community uses as part of the strategy for Thame. The SOLP 2011 Policy R3 explains 
that the change of use of existing buildings to provide new or extended indoor sports 
facilities will be permitted provided that the building is suitable for the use proposed and 
there are no overriding objections on amenity, highway or environmental grounds. The 
Council’s Leisure Team have commented that the South Oxfordshire Leisure Study 
Addendums (part of the evidence base for the emerging Local Plan 2034) state that in 
the North sub area of South Oxfordshire there is a need for two new health and fitness 
studios and 85 new fitness stations, but it does suggest it’s linked to pool provision. 
However, any new facilities would increase participation in sport and activity across 
South Oxfordshire and on this basis, they raise no objections to the proposal.

6.3 Principle of Development – Loss of Employment
The site lies within an area designated as employment land in the TNP.  The SOCS 
Policy CSTHA1 Criterion (vii) supports schemes which improve the stock of existing 
commercial buildings and the environment of the employment areas as part of the 
strategy for Thame. The applicant is seeking to create a fitness centre which will seek 
to employ 12 full-time jobs (as stated in the application). The SOLP 2011 Policy
E6 states that proposals for the redevelopment or change of use of redundant land or 
buildings in employment or service trade use to non-employment uses will be permitted 
if:
(i) the site is less than 0.25 ha and buildings under 500 sqm and in the towns of Didcot,
Henley, Thame, or Wallingford; or

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

(ii) the existing use is no longer economically viable, and the site has been marketed
at a reasonable price for at least a year for that and any other suitable employment or
service trade uses.
TNP Policy WS12 repeats the wording of Policy E6(ii) above.

6.4 Although Thame Town Council object to the loss of an employment use, criterion (ii) 
has been satisfied as the applicant has provided evidence that the site has been vacant 
for over a year, so the application is not in contravention of either policy. Policy WS12’s 
objective is to protect and support existing employment, and to retain existing 
employment land in employment use, albeit described as B1, B2 or B8 use classes. 
Anecdotally, the Council’s Economic Development Team has seen a recent increase in 
businesses across the district utilising and converting B class space for other uses (e.g. 
gyms, childcare, indoor leisure), and this appears to be a trend nationally. In the light of 
these factors, they support the application.

6.5 Visual Impact
Unit 3 is a functional building that sits within a backdrop of industrial units. There would 
be limited physical changes to the building, mostly associated with the provision of 
disabled access and cycle parking provision. The overall appearance of the building 
would not be significantly altered. These changes would also not have any material 
impact on the wider setting of Thame, given that a major housing development has 
recently been constructed on the opposite side of the road.

6.6 Neighbour Impact
Given the level of separation between the site and the closest dwellings to the south is 
over 40 metres and there is a main road in between, officers consider that activities 
associated with the proposed use of the site would be unlikely to result in any 
significant additional disturbance to nearby residents compared with the existing 
industrial uses. This is reinforced by the Environmental Protection Officer raising no 
objection to the proposal, given that any statutory nuisance could be controlled under 
separate legislation under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. It should also be 
noted that no objections have been received from any third parties.

6.7 Access and Parking
Policy T1 of the SOLP 2011 seeks to ensure that all new development would provide a 
safe and convenient access for all users of the highway. Policy T2 of the SOLP 2011 
aims to secure the following:
(i) loading, unloading, circulation and turning space;
(ii) parking for people with disabilities;
(iii) the parking of vehicles in accordance with the Council's maximum parking
standards;
(iv) measures to reduce the need for vehicle parking where appropriate; and
(v) cycle parking in accordance with the Council's standards.

6.8 The proposed change of use requires 35 on-site parking spaces to meet adopted 
standards. The proposed layout shows 27 parking spaces, however, the Highway 
Liaison Officer (HLO) considers that four of these (positioned at the rear of the 
premises) would be impractical to access and egress, which means that they would be 
unlikely to be used. This would result in a shortfall of 12 usable on-site parking spaces. 
The application states that the facility will be at its busiest after 5.30pm and therefore 
seeks to address this shortfall through the following:

- on-street parking on the two side roads, Lupton Road and Dormer Road which 
the applicant states are empty first thing in the morning and after 5:30pm and at 
weekends and contain no parking restrictions;

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

- informal agreement to use the 38 off-street parking spaces at the adjoining Dax 
House and Unit 3A premises after they close at 5 – 5:30pm and at weekends;

- a timetable has been proposed along with the provision of a 30 minute ‘change 
over period’, to allow for participants of the previous class to leave before the 
next class starts;

- imposition of a planning condition to produce a travel plan for staff.

Officers note that there would be no mechanism to secure the suggested off-site 
parking arrangements in perpetuity. In the event of a change in circumstances for the 
current owners of the adjoining premises, outside of the applicant’s control, the 
availability of the off-site parking currently being offered to future customers of Unit 3 
could be lost. The timetable does not take into account participants of later classes 
arriving before the previous class has finished so as to secure a parking place, 
especially when parking is at a premium on-site. Participants of a class may also wish 
to discuss matters with the instructor, use the shower facilities and eat at the 
establishment. These will all reduce the availability of parking on site for subsequent 
users and increase the risk of overflow parking onto the adjacent busy, classified road. 

The provision of cycle parking would give customers the option of cycling to the 
premises, however, this is a policy requirement of Policy T2 rather than a factor to 
offset the car parking shortfall. Similarly, the availability of nearby bus stops would not 
guarantee that staff and customers would travel to and from the premises by public 
transport. The HLO does not agree with the applicant that a shortfall of this nature 
could be overcome through a planning condition to provide a travel plan to incentivise 
staff and customers to use other means to travel to the premises. Officers have 
concluded that there would be too much uncertainty concerning the operational 
practicalities of the parking arrangements, leaving the Local Planning Authority with 
insufficient control over the conduct of customers. As such, the proposed change of use 
would be likely to result in indiscriminate parking in the locality, which in the HLO’s 
expert opinion would have an unacceptable impact on highway and pedestrian safety, 
thereby in conflict with Policies G2, R3, T1 and T2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2011 and advice contained within Paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

Other Material Planning Considerations:
The application has been revised to meet various requirements in Sport England’s 
Active Design guidance for facilities and the Disability and Equality Act 2010. 
Community Infrastructure Levy does not apply to the proposed use. The applicant has 
stated in their view that the parking and turning arrangements for the previous carpet 
storage and distribution business (as the lawful use of the premises) would have been 
substandard and would have involved larger delivery vehicles. Whilst this may have 
been the case, officers have not been provided with any accident data. In addition, the 
marketing information submitted by the applicant demonstrates a lack of interest in the 
re-use of the premises for such purposes and as such this is not a fall-back position 
that weighs heavily in favour of the current application.

The applicant considers that the social benefits of re-using the premises as a leisure 
facility, particularly for young persons and in the light of the local support, should far 
outweigh the parking shortfall. However, on balance, officers have reached the 
conclusion that the harm identified in the form of risk to highway and pedestrian safety 
is of significant weight and outweighs the compliance with any other policies that have 
been considered to support the proposed change of use of the premises. 
Consequently, there are no other material planning considerations of sufficient weight 
to override the harm identified and to indicate that the Development Plan and NPPF 
policies in relation to highway safety should not be followed.

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposed change of use would incorporate a layout with insufficient and 

inadequate on-site parking spaces, below adopted standards. There is no formal 
mechanism in place to secure additional parking provision on nearby third-party land or 
to require customers to adhere to a timetable, leaving the Local Planning Authority with 
insufficient control over the operational practicalities of the proposed parking 
arrangement. As such, the proposed change of use would be likely to result in 
indiscriminate parking in the locality, which would have an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, thereby in conflict with Policies G2, R3, T1 and T2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and advice contained within Paragraph 109 of the NPPF. 
There are no other material planning considerations of sufficient weight to override the 
harm identified and to indicate that the above Development Plan and NPPF policies in 
relation to highway safety should not be followed.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Refusal of Planning Permission

Author:           Paul Lucas
Contact No:   01235 422600
Email:             planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 22



Printed on 25/10/2018 09:36:20
   for BCP

This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2018

Reference:P18/S3531/FUL

Appendix A

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



Project numberdrawn

date

scale

title

projectNotes

Drawing no

3 Wenman Road
Thame

OX9 3SD

AK
18/10/2018

1:1250 @ A4

1237

PL-01

Site Location Plan

no   date    revision

Stable Court Studio
12a Bell Lane • Thame • OX9 3AL
01844 267990 • admin@jcemmett.co.uk

PLANNING & ARCHITECTURAL
CONSULTANCY

THIS DRAWING REMAINS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF
JEFFREY CHARLES EMMETT ASSOC. R.I.C.S

All dimensional discrepancies to be referred to
JCE Planning & Architectural Consultancy

25

2c

15

2b

20

2a

22

2

11

LB

12

7

Factory

12

2

W
ar

eh
ou

se

24

27

Fa
ct

or
y

Factory

21

19

W
or

ks

15

11

1

Warehouse

Warehouse

Warehouse

204821.1

204997.66

47
14

15
.8

2

204850

204900

204950

47
14

15
.8

2

47
14

50
47

14
50

47
15

00
47

15
00

47
15

50
47

15
50

47
16

00
47

16
00

47
16

50
47

16
50

47
17

00
47

17
00

47
17

12
.1

7
47

17
12

.1
7

204821.1

204850

204900

204950

204997.66

El Sub Sta

WENMAN ROAD

LU
PT

O
N

 R
O

AD

DO
RM

ER
 R

O
AD

existing fuel
filling station

Protection
barrier

N

scale 1-1250

0m 50m

PLANNING APPLICATION

Appendix B

P
age 24



Project numberdrawn

date

scale

title

project

Notes

no   date         revision

Drawing no

THIS DRAWING REMAINS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF
JEFFREY CHARLES EMMETT ASSOC. R.I.C.S
All dimensional discrepancies to be referred to

JCE Planning & Architectural Consultancy

3 Wenman Road
Thame

OX9 3SD

AK&EP
23/11/2018

1:200 @ A1

1237

PL-02

Existing and Proposed Site Layout
Plan

Stable Court Studio
12a Bell Lane • Thame • OX9 3AL
01844 267990 • admin@jcemmett.co.uk

PLANNING & ARCHITECTURAL
CONSULTANCY

PLANNING APPLICATION

76.24

76.36

76.23

76.35

76.19

76.31

76.18

76.17

76.12
76.11

76.22

76.04

76.16

75.98

76.10

75.99

75.87

75.85

75.90

75.98

76.03

76.04

76.11

76.27

76.38

76.26

76.25

76.25
76.38

76.32

76.17

76.19

76.27

76.17

76.17

76.01
75.99

75.98

75.95

75.95
76.03

76.22

76.16

76.16

76.18

76.14

76.21

76.24

76.26

76
.3

276.41

76.28

76.1976.18

76.16

76.17

76.17

76.62

76.61

76.30

76.29

76.33

76.38

76.34

76.31

76.30

76.30

76.32

76.33

76
.3

5

76
.3

1
76

.3
1

76
.1

7
76

.3
1

76
.2

9

76
.1

9

76
.2

3

76.25
76.26

76
.3

2

76
.3

4

76
.3

4

76
.3

4

76
.3

3

76.59

76.61

76.52

80.99
80.73

77
.9

4

76.41

76.16

76.23

76.13

76.29

76.36

76.43

76.57

76.39
76.57

76.60

76.53

76.53

76
.2

5

76
.2

5

76
.1

9

76
.1

9

76
.2

3

76
.2

5

76
.2

1

76.28

76.25

76.22

76.21

76.19

76.21

76.23

76.25

76.25

76.26

76
.2

4

76
.2

2
76

.1
9

76
.1

2

76.12

76.15

76.12

76.13

76.14

76
.2

7

76.23

76.20

76.24

Gully

Gully

Gully

Gully

IC
IC

IC

IC
BT

LP

IC

IC
IC

IC
IC

LP

FH

Gully

IC

IC

IC

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Drop Kerb

Drop Kerb

Step Up
Gravel

Gravel

IC

IC

IC

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

0.3/5/5

0.9mh Brick Wall

0.9mh Brick Wall

IC

DP

DP

DP

DP

Ra
m

p 
Up

R
am

p 
U

p

Fuel filling
station

IC

IC

IC

Concrete

Concrete

Concrete

Concrete

Concrete

Tarmac
Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Grass

Grass

Grass

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

2.5mh Railings

2.5mh Railings

2.5mh Railings

Retaining Wall

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

Grass

R
id

ge
 L

ev
el

 =
 8

4.
51

m

R
oo

f L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

17
m

Roof Level = 82.50m

GF Windows
HL=78.61mCL=77.65m GF Windows

HL=78.61mCL=77.25m

GF Windows
HL=78.61mCL=77.25m GF Windows

HL=78.61m
CL=77.65m

FF Windows
HL=81.32m
CL=80.16m

To
p 

of
 D

oo
r L

ev
el

 =
 8

0.
73

m

To
p 

of
 D

oo
r L

ev
el

 =
 8

0.
74

m

R
oo

f L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

16
m

Ro
of

 L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

10
m

Wenman Road

Warehouse
MGR Foamtex Ltd

Thame
Cars

4,565

3,550

5,
60

0

6,
00

0

5,
00

0

5,
00

0

6,
00

0

5,
00

0

2,500

3,
69

6

3,762

2,
70

0

2,
70

0

5,
50

0

3,514

1,445
2,700

1,500
1,885

1,500
1,000

Gully

Gully

Gully

Gully

IC
IC

IC

IC
BT

LP

IC

IC
IC

IC
IC

LP

FH

Gully

IC

IC

IC

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Drop Kerb

Drop Kerb

Step Up
Gravel

Gravel

IC

IC

IC

0.3/5/5

0.9mh Brick Wall

0.9mh Brick Wall

IC

DP

DP

DP

DP

IC

IC

IC

Concrete

Concrete

Tarmac
Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Grass

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

2.5mh Railings

2.5mh Railings

2.5mh Railings

Retaining Wall

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF R
id

ge
 L

ev
el

 =
 8

4.
51

m

R
oo

f L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

17
m

Roof Level = 82.50m

GF Windows
HL=78.61mCL=77.65m GF Windows

HL=78.61mCL=77.25m

GF Windows
HL=78.61mCL=77.25m GF Windows

HL=78.61m
CL=77.65m

FF Windows
HL=81.32m
CL=80.16m

R
oo

f L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

16
m

Ro
of

 L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

10
m

Wenman Road

Existing Warehouse to be converted
(Change of use from B8 to D2 gym)

Covered
"Sheffield" type

cycle stands
20 spaces

7 spaces

2 spaces

5 spaces

Fuel filling
station to be

removed

services

2 Disabled
spaces

5
spaces

IN

OUT

Bin
store

Fire
escape

door

Fire escape
door

Accessible
entrance

Fire escape
door

Fire escape
door

Disabled
space

Delivery
door

Ar
ea

 to
 b

ec
am

e 
ex

te
rn

al
 s

pr
in

t t
ra

ck

4 spaces

1 space

Part of the
brick wall to be

demolished

MGR Foamtex Ltd

Thame
Cars

Plant
room

N

Existing Site Layout
Scale 1-200

Proposed Site Layout
Scale 1-200

20m

scale 1-200

0m 10m

A    22/11/18 PLANS UPDATED WITH REVISED SURVEY,
CAR PARK LAYOUT AMENDED AND BIKE
STAND DETAILS ADDED

A

P
age 25



Project numberdrawn

date

scale

title

project

Notes

no   date         revision

Drawing no

THIS DRAWING REMAINS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF
JEFFREY CHARLES EMMETT ASSOC. R.I.C.S
All dimensional discrepancies to be referred to

JCE Planning & Architectural Consultancy

3 Wenman Road
Thame

OX9 3SD

AK&EP
23/11/2018

1:100 @ A1

1237

PL-05

Existing Elevations and Sections

Stable Court Studio
12a Bell Lane • Thame • OX9 3AL
01844 267990 • admin@jcemmett.co.uk

PLANNING & ARCHITECTURAL
CONSULTANCY

PLANNING APPLICATION

76.36

84.51

82.50
82.17 82.16

84.51

84.5184.51

82.17

82.17

82.50

82.50
82.1682.16

76.21 76.21 76.33 76.21

76.21 76.3076.30 76.33

WAREHOUSE

OFFICE ONE

OFFICE FIVEOFFICE THREE OFFICE FOUR

OFFICE TWO

LANDING

STAFF ROOM PLANT STOREENTRANCE
LOBBY

76.36

79.12

76.39

84.51 84.51

82.16
82.50

82.17

76.2276.23 76.2376.34

Front Elevation

Section A-A Section B-B

Left Hand Elevation

Right Hand ElevationRear Elevation

10m0m 5m

scale 1-100

P
age 26



Project numberdrawn

date

scale

title

project

Notes

no   date         revision

Drawing no

THIS DRAWING REMAINS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF
JEFFREY CHARLES EMMETT ASSOC. R.I.C.S
All dimensional discrepancies to be referred to

JCE Planning & Architectural Consultancy

3 Wenman Road
Thame

OX9 3SD

AK&EP
08/02/2019

1:100 @ A1

1237

PL-06

Proposed Elevations and Sections

Stable Court Studio
12a Bell Lane • Thame • OX9 3AL
01844 267990 • admin@jcemmett.co.uk

PLANNING & ARCHITECTURAL
CONSULTANCY

PLANNING APPLICATION

1,500 1,200

95
0

60
0

95
0

60
095

0
60

0

76.36

84.51

82.50
82.17 82.16

84.51

84.5184.51

82.17

82.17

82.50

82.50
82.1682.16

76.21 76.21 76.33 76.21

76.21 76.3076.30 76.33

OPEN GYM

OFFICE

LANDING

STAFF ROOM PLANT STOREENTRANCE
LOBBY

76.36

79.12

76.39

84.51 84.51

82.16
82.50

82.17

76.2276.23 76.2376.34

Front Elevation

Section A-A Section B-B

Left Hand Elevation

Right Hand ElevationRear Elevation

Protection barrier to be removed and
access ramp with handrails to be added

New door
for delivery

Access
ramp

Covered
bike

stands

Gas
meter

Access
ramp

Access
ramp

STRETCHING AREA

HairdresserOfficeSports
therapy

Sports injury
rehabilitation

Existing fire escape door to be
replaced with new automatic door with

minimum 775 mm clear width and
access ramp & handrails to be added

Existing
Ramp

Existing
Ramp

Existing step
replaced with ramp

Existing fire escape door to be
replaced with new automatic
door with minimum 775 mm

clear width and access ramp &
handrails to be added

Covered cycle stands
rearranged

Bin storeExisting step
replaced with ramp

10m0m 5m

scale 1-100

A

A    08/02/19 - EXISTING RAMP INDICATION ADDED,
- EXISTING FIRE ESCAPE DOORS TO BE REPLACED,
- STEP REPLACED WITH RAMP AT MAIN ENTRANCE

P
age 27



Project numberdrawn

date

scale

title

project

Notes

no   date         revision

Drawing no

THIS DRAWING REMAINS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF
JEFFREY CHARLES EMMETT ASSOC. R.I.C.S
All dimensional discrepancies to be referred to

JCE Planning & Architectural Consultancy

3 Wenman Road
Thame

OX9 3SD

AK&EP
08/02/2019

1:100 @ A1

1237

PL-03

Existing and Proposed Ground
Floor

Stable Court Studio
12a Bell Lane • Thame • OX9 3AL
01844 267990 • admin@jcemmett.co.uk

PLANNING & ARCHITECTURAL
CONSULTANCY

PLANNING APPLICATION

1 2 3 4 5

6

7

8

9

10111213141516171819

167*19=3180

  12 : 1

  1
2 

: 1
  1

2 
: 1

1,500 220 2,000

22
0

1,
20

0

1,500

1,391

1,500 1,892 1,500

1,500

3,
40

0
20

0
3,

20
0

60
0

10
0

20
0

1,500

1,
50

0

1,
50

0

35
0

35
0

GROUND
FLOOR

SERVING
HATCH

SERVING
HATCH

Sports injury rehabilitation FEMALE
WC

PLANT STORE

STAFF
ROOM

OFFICE

Door to be
blocked

D4

FD1

FD2

D5

D7

D6 D8

D9

D11 D12

D10

D13

D16

MALE
WC

D14
D15

P
LA

N
T

R
O

O
M

A
02

A
02

B
02

B
02

BOILER

ELECTRICAL
BOXES

GAS
METER

ELECTRIC
HEATING UNIT

GAS
HEATING
UNIT

DP DP

DPDP

76.36

76.19

76.39

76.34

76.34

KITCHEN

Protected
staircase

Existing fire escape door to be
replaced with new automatic
door with minimum 775 mm

clear width and access ramp &
handrails to be added

FITNESS
STUDIO 1Automated roller

shutter door
FIRE ESCAPE

SHOP
RECEPTION

SNACK
BAR

existing filling
station to be
removed

BOXING
GYM

OPEN
GYM

Automated roller
shutter door

FIRE ESCAPE

new door with min. 825 mm
clear width to existing wall

new door to
existing wall

existing door
leaf to be
reversed

Protection barrier
to be removed  &
access ramp with

handrails to be
added

DISABLED
CHANGING

ROOM
(see details
separately)

STRECHING
AREA

STORAGE

BAR&SEATING

MIRROR TO WALL

storage

IC

FR 1/2

FR 1/2

New door
for delivery

Covered
"Sheffield" type

cycle stands
20 spaces

Bin
store

Parking
space

door with min.
825 mm clear

width

door with min. 825 mm
clear width

new door with min. 825 mm
clear width to existing wall

Door to be
blocked

New automatic door with
minimum 1000 mm clear width

CRECHE

barn door with
min. 825 mm clear

width
existing D14 door
leaf to be reversed

ambulant
accessible
cubicle

ambulant
accessible
cubicle

existing D12
door leaf to be

reversed

Existing
Ramp

Existing
Ramp

Existing step
replaced with ramp

Existing fire escape door to be
replaced with new automatic
door with minimum 775 mm

clear width and access ramp &
handrails to be added

4,
06

4

10,751

4,
62

5

8,281

2,
98

9

2,607 2,
99

1

2,602

1,
33

6

3,377

GROUND
FLOOR

SERVING
HATCH

SERVING
HATCH

OFFICE ONE

COUNTER/SHOWROOM

FEMALE
WC

PLANT STORE

STAFF
ROOM

OFFICE TWO

WAREHOUSE

D1

D2

D3

D4

FD1

FD2

D5

D7

D6 D8

D9

D11 D12

D10

D13

D16

MALE
WC

D14D15

PLANT
ROOM
EXISTING
SVP

A
02

A
02

B
02

B
02

CH
2543

CH
2540

CH
2541

CH
2533

CH
2545

CH
2551

CH
2525

CH
2532

BOILER

ELECTRICAL
BOXES

GAS
METER

ELECTRIC
HEATING
UNIT

GAS
HEATING
UNIT

CH
2403

DP DP

DPDP

76.36

76.19

76.39

76.34

76.34

Existing
Ramp

Existing
Ramp

N

Existing Ground Floor Plan Proposed Ground Floor Plan

10m0m 5m

scale 1-100

D

A    02/11/18 -SQUASH COURT REMOVED FOLLOWING
SODC ADVICE;

-EXTERNAL DOOR TO KITCHEN ADDED;

-OTHER LAYOUT ALTERATIONS
 FOLLOWING CLIENT'S REQUEST

Existing

Proposed

B    23/11/18 PLANS UPDATED WITH REVISED SURVEY
AND BIKE STAND DETAILS

C    16/01/19 AMBULANT ACCESSIBLE CUBICLES, ADDITIONAL
DIMENSIONS AND NEW ENTRANCE DOOR ADDED

D    08/02/19 - EXISTING RAMP INDICATION ADDED,
- EXISTING FIRE ESCAPE DOORS TO BE REPLACED,
- STEP REPLACED WITH RAMP AT MAIN ENTRANCE

P
age 28



Project numberdrawn

date

scale

title

project

Notes

no   date         revision

Drawing no

THIS DRAWING REMAINS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF
JEFFREY CHARLES EMMETT ASSOC. R.I.C.S
All dimensional discrepancies to be referred to

JCE Planning & Architectural Consultancy

3 Wenman Road
Thame

OX9 3SD

AK&EP
16/01/2019

1:100 @ A1

1237

PL-04

Existing and Proposed First Floor

Stable Court Studio
12a Bell Lane • Thame • OX9 3AL
01844 267990 • admin@jcemmett.co.uk

PLANNING & ARCHITECTURAL
CONSULTANCY

PLANNING APPLICATION

1 2 3 4 5

6

7

8

9

10111213141516171819

167*19=3180

FIRST FLOOR

WC
D22D17 D20

D21

D23

D18 D19

A
02

A
02

B
02

B
02

ELECTRICAL
BOXES

FUSE
SWITCH

79.57

79.00

DP DP

DP DP

HOT
WATER

CYLINDER

79.12

76.39

FITNESS
STUDIO 2

PLANT
ROOM

Protected
staircase

Locker room
(Female)bench

bench

bench

bench

Locker room
(Male)

Recreational fitness
room

Office
Sports
therapy

be
nc

h

ambulant
accessible

cubicle

ambulant
accessible

cubicle

4,
05

4

6,081

2,
99

3

4,685

4,
06

1

10,936

FIRST FLOOR

MEZZANINE
LEVEL

OFFICE THREE OFFICE FOUR OFFICE FIVE

WC
D22D17 D20

D21

D23

D18 D19

A
02

A
02

B
02

B
02

CH
2445

WATER TANK

ELECTRICAL
BOXES

CH
2454

CH
2471

CH
2465

CH
2447

CH
2444

CH
2461

FUSE
SWITCH

79.57
79.00

DP DP

DP DP

HOT
WATER

CYLINDER

79.12

76.39

N

Existing First Floor Plan Proposed First Floor Plan

10m0m 5m

scale 1-100

A    23/11/18 PLANS UPDATED WITH REVISED SURVEY AND
OTHER LAYOUT ALTERATIONS FOLLOWING
CLIENT'S REQUEST

C

Existing

Proposed

B    09/01/19 RECREATIONAL FITNESS ROOM INSTEAD OF
HAIRDRESSER

C    16/01/19 AMBULANT ACCESSIBLE CUBICLES ADDED

P
age 29



Project numberdrawn

date

scale

title

projectNotes

Drawing no

3 Wenman Road
Thame

OX9 3SD

AK
16/01/2019

1:25 @ A4

1237

PL-08

Disable changing room layout

no   date         revision

Stable Court Studio
12a Bell Lane • Thame • OX9 3AL
01844 267990 • admin@jcemmett.co.uk

PLANNING & ARCHITECTURAL
CONSULTANCY

THIS DRAWING REMAINS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF
JEFFREY CHARLES EMMETT ASSOC. R.I.C.S

All dimensional discrepancies to be referred to
JCE Planning & Architectural Consultancy

2,000
3,

40
0

20
0

3,
20

0

90
0

600

Automatic
hand dryer

1500 mm corridor width,
please see PL-03C

600mm deep fixed seat
bench with rounded corner

and soft round edges

A

A    16/01/19   Automatic hand dryer and fixed
bench added

Page 30



Project numberdrawn

date

scale

title

project

Notes

no   date         revision

Drawing no

THIS DRAWING REMAINS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF
JEFFREY CHARLES EMMETT ASSOC. R.I.C.S
All dimensional discrepancies to be referred to

JCE Planning & Architectural Consultancy

3 Wenman Road
Thame

OX9 3SD

AK&EP
08/02/2019

1:500 @ A1

1237

PL-07

Proposed Site Layout with
on-street parking

Stable Court Studio
12a Bell Lane • Thame • OX9 3AL
01844 267990 • admin@jcemmett.co.uk

PLANNING & ARCHITECTURAL
CONSULTANCY

PLANNING APPLICATION
  1

2 
: 1

4,565

3,550

5,
60

0

6,
00

0

5,
00

0

5,
00

0

6,
00

0

5,
00

0

2,500

3,
69

6

3,702

2,
70

0

2,
70

0

5,
50

0

3,514

1,445
2,700

1,500
1,888

1,500
1,000

Gully

Gully

Gully

Gully

Gully

Gully

Gully

Gully

Gully

IC

IC

IC

IC

IC
IC

IC

IC

IC
BT

LP

IC

IC
IC

IC
IC

LP

FH

Gully

IC

IC

IC

RS

LP

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Kerbline

Ke
rb

lin
e

Drop Kerb

Kerbline

Drop Kerb

Drop Kerb

Drop Kerb

Drop Kerb

Drop Kerb

Drop Kerb

Ke
rb

lin
e

Ke
rb

lin
e

Kerbline

Kerbline

Step Up
Gravel

Gravel

IC

IC

IC

0.3/5/5

0.3/5/5

0.3/5/5

RS

LP

0.9mh Brick Wall

0.9mh Brick Wall

0.9mh Brick Wall

IC

DP

DP

DP

DP

0.9mh Brick Wall

IC

IC

IC

IC

Concrete

Concrete

Tarmac
Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac

Grass

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

2.5mh Railings

2.5mh Railings

2.5mh Railings

Retaining Wall

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

1.
8m

h 
C

LF

LP

R
id

ge
 L

ev
el

 =
 8

4.
51

m

R
oo

f L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

17
m

Roof Level = 82.50m

GF Windows
HL=78.61mCL=77.65m GF Windows

HL=78.61mCL=77.25m

GF Windows
HL=78.61mCL=77.25m GF Windows

HL=78.61m
CL=77.65m

FF Windows
HL=81.32m
CL=80.16m

R
oo

f L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

16
m

Ro
of

 L
ev

el
 =

 8
2.

10
m

Wenman Road

Wenman Road

Wenman Road

Wenman Road

Wenman Road

Do
rm

er
 R

oa
d

W
ar

re
n 

M
ea

d

Lu
pt

on
 R

oa
d

Existing Warehouse to be converted
(Change of use from B8 to D2 gym)

Covered
"Sheffield" type

cycle stands
20 spaces

7 spaces

2 spaces

5 spaces

Fuel filling
station to be

removed

services

2 Disabled
spaces

5
spaces

IN

OUT

Bin
store

Accessible
entrance

Fire escape
door

Fire escape
door

Disabled
space

Delivery
door

Ar
ea

 to
 b

ec
am

e 
ex

te
rn

al
 s

pr
in

t t
ra

ck

4 spaces

1 space

Part of the
brick wall to be

demolished

MGR Foamtex Ltd

Thame
Cars

Plant
room

Existing car park
with 38 spaces

Existing fire escape door to be
replaced with new automatic
door with minimum 775 mm

clear width and access ramp &
handrails to be added

N

Proposed Site Layout with on-street parking
Scale 1-500

Parking spaces
On Site   27 (inc. 3 disabled)
Lupton Road  16
Dormer Road  16
Total    59 spaces

"Sheffield" type cycle stands for 20 bicycle

scale 1-500

0m 50m

A    08/02/19 - EXISTING RAMP INDICATION ADDED,
- EXISTING FIRE ESCAPE DOORS TO BE REPLACED,
- STEP REPLACED WITH RAMP AT MAIN ENTRANCE

A

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S2735/LB
APPLICATION TYPE LISTED BLDG. CONSENT
REGISTERED 21.8.2018
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBER(S) David Dodds, Nigel Champken-Woods & Jeannette 

Matelot
APPLICANT Thame Town Council
SITE Various Listed Buildings, Thame Town Centre, Thame
PROPOSAL Production and installation of commemorative plaques 

denoting the use of 6 listed buildings in Thame as 
filming locations for the Midsomer Murders series.

OFFICER Marc Pullen

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as a formal call-in has been 

made by Councillor David Dodds.  

1.2 The scope of this application covers a number of buildings (which are shown on the 
OS extract attached as Appendix A) scattered across the town centre.  

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks listed building consent to affix and display six plaques on 

individual listed buildings in Thame Town centre. The individual listed buildings are: 

1. Spread Eagle Hotel, 16-17 Cornmarket Street – Grade II* listed
2. Swan Hotel, 9 Upper High Street – Grade II* listed
3. Thame Town Hall, High Street – Grade II listed
4. Thame Museum, 79 High Street – Grade II listed
5. Market House, North Street – Grade II listed
6. Rumsey’s Chocolate Shop, 8 Upper High Street – Grade II listed

2.2 A copy of all the current plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix 
B.  Other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s 
website, www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council 

 Proposal is not considered to be harmful to the historic interest of the listed 
buildings concerned nor have an adverse effect on the character of the area.  

 The installation of the plaques will have a positive impact on the vibrancy and 
vitality of the town.  

Thame Cons.Area Advisory Comm 
 Two in favour
 Three strongly against 

Oxfordshire Architectural and Historical Society 
 While we acknowledge the popular interest in this television series, and accept 

that cultural history should embrace such phenomena, we disagree 
fundamentally with a number of the statements made in the supporting 
documentation 

 Lack of justification to a number of claims made within supporting 
documentation 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2735/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

 The proposed plaques do not convey public benefits that over-ride the harm 
caused to the listed buildings and the conservation area

 The plaques are an excessively intrusive way of achieving the objectives of the 
proponents of this scheme. There are many alternative ways of showing tourists 
what to see and why they should see it, such as mobile phone apps and 
heritage trail leaflets

 Moreover, if any of these buildings were needed as locations for future filming, 
the plaques would have to be removed

Historic England (South East) 
 Do not wish to offer any comments. We suggest that you seek the views of your 

specialist conservation adviser
Oxfordshire Blue Plaques -

 We still feel that the unspoilt and authentic character of Thame and the 
Midsomer villages must surely be the main attraction for most tourists rather 
than the precise identification of the sites used in the films. We recognize the 
importance attached by Thame Town Council to these plaques for promoting 
tourism and greater prosperity.  While still having reservations about the 
proposal, we take a balanced view of it.

Conservation Officer (South)  
 This scheme is not appropriate and would result in harm to the significance of 

the listed buildings
 Unable to support this application due to the adverse impact on the special 

interest of the individual buildings and adverse impact on the character and 
appearance of the Thame Conservation Area

 Concerned about the subject matter of the plaques.  The large-scale 
commemoration of fictional characters and places would not be appropriate. 

 It is considered that these plaques would not meet the tests of the English 
Heritage guidance on commemorative plaques and the cumulative impact of a 
collection of plaques on one subject would undermine the function of other 
plaques across Thame and the District more generally. 

 It is considered that that the association of the identified buildings with, for the 
most part, singular appearances in the TV show should be not be considered an 
event of historic significance that should be commemorated by a permanent 
plaque on the building. 

 Concern that this would lead to a desire for more and more plaques as other 
buildings are used in the programme, especially given the previous application 
(which was withdrawn) sought consent for 12 plaques.  

 It is appreciated that the places associated with Midsomer Murders are notable 
tourist attractions within Thame and the wider area across South Oxfordshire 
District and parts of the adjoining district of Buckinghamshire.  As such, the 
Council is in full favour of the existing Visit Midsomer programme that currently 
exists to promote Midsomer locations across Oxfordshire.  However, it is not 
considered to be appropriately justified to identify specific sites in Thame with a 
permanent marker on the building as proposed.

Economic Development 
 As per earlier application P18/S2735/LB, the economic development team is 

supportive of the initiative as it will diversify and strengthen the local economy, 
encouraging visitors to explore the town centre.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P17/S1978/LB – Withdrawn prior to determination (05/01/2018)

Production and installation of commemorative plaques denoting the use of 12 listed 
buildings in Thame as filming locations for the Midsomer Murders ITV series.

Page 34

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1978/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework & National Planning Practice Guidance

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2012 policies; 
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy 

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies; 
CON3  -  Alteration to listed building

5.4 Thame Neighbourhood Plan 2013 policies; 
WS2  -  Retain and enhance primary and secondary retail frontages 
ESDQ15  -  Developers must demonstrate in a Design and Access Statement how their 
proposed development reinforces Thame’s character 
ESDQ16  -  Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings 
ESDQ17  -  Development must make a positive contribution towards the distinctive 
character of the town as a whole 
ESDQ20  -  Building style must be appropriate to the historic context 
ESDQ21  -  Development proposals, particularly where sited on the edge of Thame or 
adjoining Cuttle Brook, must maintain visual connections with the countryside

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (2016) 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1  Impact on the special interest of the listed buildings and character and 

appearance of Thame Conservation Area

Introduction

6.2 This application follows from a previous application which sought listed building consent 
for 12 red plaques on 12 individual listed buildings in Thame.  These plaques would be 
red in colour and would vary in size between 350mm diameter (two plaques) and 
253mm or 300mm diameter (four plaques).  The signs would be produced in 
encapsulated aluminium, digitally printed and coated in plastic coating.  The plaques 
would not be set flush with the brickwork to which they will be affixed and instead would 
project from the brickwork using spacers.  Each plaque would be situated within the 
Thame Conservation Area and each plaque would be affixed to a listed building.  The 
application states that the plaques would be fixed and installed in accordance with 
English Heritage guidelines.  

6.3 The intention behind the installation of these six plaques is to commemorate the TV 
programme, Midsomer Murders and specific episodes that have been filmed in Thame.  
The individual plaques would identify the building that it is installed on as a filming 
location for Midsomer Murders.  Midsomer Murders generates visitor numbers to the 
District and there are already a few incentives in place in Thame to encourage visitors; 
including Midsomer walking trails and regular Midsomer tours.  These plaques seek to 
build upon this success to identify certain filming locations along the walking trail and 
tour.  

6.4 Application ref. P17/S1978/LB sought consent for 12 plaques and was withdrawn prior 
to determination in 2017.  The Council was intending to refuse this application due to 
the impact caused to the listed buildings in question and to the Thame Conservation 
Area.  This application retains six of the originally proposed 12 plaques.  As identified 
above these plaques would be situated on six individual listed buildings which are a mix 
of Grade II* to Grade II listed.  

Page 35

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1978/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) seeks for local planning authorities to 
take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets, the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness (para 192, NPPF).  

6.6 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation 
(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be).  This is 
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or 
less than substantial harm to its significance (para. 193, NPPF).   

6.7 Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use (para. 196, NPPF).  

6.8 Policy CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) states that the district’s 
designated historic heritage assets will be conserved and enhanced for their historic 
significance and their important contribution to local distinctiveness, character and 
sense of place.  Policy CON3 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) states that 
any alteration to a listed building must respect its established character and not 
diminish the special historical or architectural qualities which make it worthy of inclusion 
on the statutory list.  Policy CON7 (SOLP) seeks to protect the character and 
appearance of conservation areas and its historic value.   

Impact on listed buildings and conservation area

6.9 In the view of the Council, the proposed works to the listed buildings would have 
adverse impact on the special interest of the individual listed buildings and the 
character and appearance of the Thame Conservation Area.  It is acknowledged that 
Midsomer Murders provides an important economic benefit to the town of Thame as 
well as across the wider district.  The benefits of this are positive.  However, the Council 
is of the view that this specific project, to produce a series of commemorative plaques 
and fix them to the buildings, would compromise the significance of the listed buildings 
which are included within the National Heritage List for England for their architectural 
and historic interest and not as a result of their association with a television programme.

6.10 Whilst it is recognised that the submitted details demonstrate a fixing-method that 
results in as little physical impact to historic fabric as possible, the fact remains that 
there would be a physical and visual impact to this scheme which should be a 
consideration in the determination of the application.  

6.11 The large-scale commemoration of fictional characters and places would not be 
appropriate.  The Council does not consider that these meet the tests of the English 
Heritage guidance on commemorative plaques and that the cumulative impact of a 
collection of plaques on one subject would undermine the function of other plaques 
across Thame and the District more generally.  The guidance suggests that 
commemorating fictitious characters or sites may be appropriate where a site has a 
unique association with a well-known and influential fictitious entity, but the 
identification of sites as part of a whole scheme is likely to de-value the commemoration 
of other more historically significant subjects (Celebrating People and Place. Guidance 
on Commemorative Plaques and Plaques Schemes, English Heritage 2010:40).  
Officers are of particular concern that this would be the case here if this application is 
approved.  

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

6.12 Good practice guidance for plaques has been established by Historic England in 
conjunction with blue plaque groups across the country.  Generally, plaques placed on 
listed building are used to identify a historic association of the building with a person or 
event of historic significance.  Officers do not believe that the association of the 
identified buildings with, for the most part, singular appearances in the television show 
should be considered an event of historic significance that should be commemorated 
by a permanent plaque on the building.  In addition, officers are concerned that this 
would lead to a desire for more and more plaques as other buildings are used in the 
programme, especially as this is a reduced proposal from the first iteration.  

6.13 Officers appreciate that the places associated with Midsomer Murders are a notable 
tourist attraction within Thame and the wider area across South Oxfordshire District and 
parts of the adjoining district of Buckinghamshire.  As such, officers are in favour of the 
‘Visit Midsomer’ programme that exists to promote Midsomer locations across 
Oxfordshire (attached as Appendix C).  However, it is considered that it is not 
appropriately justified to identify specific sites in Thame with a permanent marker on the 
building as proposed.  

6.14 At the moment the supporting documentation suggests that the regular weekly one-
hour tours between April to October and the new Midsomer walking trail leaflet currently 
work well in promoting the town as a Midsomer filming location.  There is no evidence 
that would suggest that these methods are failing and why it is essential that these 
plaques are needed in order to meet the aims of the Town Council.  The use of walking 
trails and leaflets would adequately set out the specific buildings in question and can 
provide an explanation of their involvement in the Midsomer Murders television 
programme.  In addition to this the Council has suggested that, other, non-evasive 
methods of identifying these buildings as filming locations are sought, which would 
have limited impact upon the listed buildings in question and the Thame Conservation 
Area; including the use of window stickers (which would not require consent), pavement 
plaques or an electronic data face such as a mobile phone app.   

6.15 This application fails to identify why these plaques are needed in order to achieve the 
public benefit in question (economic prosperity of the Town).  Neither does it justify why 
it is necessary to cause less than substantial harm to these heritage assets when there 
appears to be sufficient measures in place to promote the Town in the same manner as 
these plaques intend to.  

6.16 As such, officers do not consider the application meets the criteria of Policy CSEN3 
(SOCS), Policies CON3 and CON7 (SOLP) or the guidance and policy set out within 
the NPPF.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Whilst the visitor may wish to ‘arrive in Midsomer’, it is important to also recognise that 

Midsomer is not real and that the market town of Thame is historically significant in its 
own right and not as the set of a television programme.  A number of opportunities exist 
to highlight the use of various buildings in the filming of the series, but officers do not 
consider the application of a physical marker on the buildings to be an appropriate way 
to do this.  It is considered that the identification of the building in this manner would 
compromise the historic and architectural interest of the building.  Officers do not 
consider that there would be a significant public benefit to this application as the 
submitted documentation demonstrates that these would be in addition to other viable 
and successful means of attracting Midsomer tourism.

Page 37



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

7.2 For the reasons above, the Council recommends that this application is refused.  
Officers consider that there would be harm to the historic and architectural interest of 
the individual listed buildings as a result of the installation of a plaque highlighting its 
association to a fictional person or place, contrary to the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policy CSEN3 (SOCS) and Policy CON3 (SOLP).  
Likewise, there would be a cumulative impact to the group of listed buildings and their 
contribution to the historic and architectural interest of the conservation area, contrary 
to the Act and Policies CON5 and CON7 (SOLP).  Officers consider that overall, this 
application would result in less that substantial harm to the designated heritage assets 
as judged against the tests of the NPPF.  It is advised that should listed building 
consent be considered then it should be satisfied that there would be demonstrable 
public benefits which outweigh this harm, such as securing the viability of any or all of 
the listed buildings or Thame Town centre in line with the requirements of the NPPF.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Refusal of Listed Building Consent

The proposed plaques would result in harm to the historic and architectural 
interests of the individual listed buildings, by identifying the importance of the 
building as belonging to a fictional person or place. There would be a cumulative 
impact to the group of listed buildings and their contribution to the historic and 
architectural interests of the Thame Conservation Area. The application would 
result in less than substantial harm to the designated heritage assets which is 
not be outweighed by public benefit as judged by the National Planning Policy 
Framework. As such the proposal would be contrary to Policy CSEN3 of the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, saved Policies CON3, CON5 and CON7 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan and the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Author:           Marc Pullen
Contact No:   01235 422600
Email:             planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 38



Appendix A

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



Page 40



Appendix B

Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



South Oxfordshire’s thriving market towns with their independent shops, 

traditional butchers and quirky cafes are the perfect setting for Causton.

Midsomer market 

towns

 

Home About Midsomer Murders Plan Your Visit

Explore Midsomer Latest News

Appendix C

Page 47



Thame

The most filmed location of Causton is a thriving 

market town with independent shops, traditional 

butchers and quirky cafes. Stay central and you 

won’t need the car for a couple of days. There’s a 

weekly fresh produce market (Tuesdays), small 

theatre, pubs with great character and good choice 

of restaurants. The Town Hall has doubled as both 

its Causton equivalent, and Causton Arts Centre.

Guided Midsomer tours of Thame are available 

weekly, on Wednesdays between May and October. 

Ad hoc tours on other days of the week can be 

arranged independently by 

emailing thamemidsomertours@gmail.com. You 

can book online, at Thame Museum or at the Town 

Hall Information Centre.

Have a look at the Self-guided walking trail of 

Thame’s Midsomer locations, that take you round 

21 town centre filming locations. Take the 

opportunity to stop off for a Barnaby Bun at 

Rumsey’s Chocolaterie, one of Thame’s filming 

locations.

M40 junctions 

7 and 8

ACCESS VIA:

Z

 FILMED 
LOCATIONS

 EPISODES FILMED 
HERE

 LOCAL 
ATTRACTIONS

 PLACES TO EAT

 PLACES TO STAY

Page 48



Wallingford

The original location of Causton, Wallingford is a 

traditional market town that palyed a big role in 

English history and retains ancient castle ruins. The 

town centre, particularly around Market Place, 

offers independent shops, restaurants and cafes. 

The Corn Exchange small theatre/cinema was 

Causton Playhouse four times. The choir at the 

church is Midsomer Worthy choir.

There are a range of self-guided walks available 

from the information centre (including Midsomer 

Murders walks), plus the opportunity to walk part 

of The Thames Path. No market town is complete 

with a market or two – Wallingford’s Charter 

market takes place on Fridays and a local 

producers market is held on Saturdays.

Download the self-guided walking trail of 

Wallingford’s Midsomer locations 

A4074, 8 miles 

from Reading 

or Oxford

ACCESS VIA:

Z

 FILMED 
LOCATIONS

 EPISODES FILMED 
HERE

 LOCAL 
ATTRACTIONS

 PLACES TO EAT

 PLACES TO STAY

Page 49



Henley-on-Thames

Featured once as Causton, Henley is a Riverside 

town with a Georgian facade of special 

architectural and historic interest. The town offers 

specialist shopping for art and antiques plus 

boutiques and curiosities. There’s a thriving Café 

culture, (or the more english version, afternoon tea, 

if you prefer), pubs, restaurants and a 

microbrewery, alongside town centre hotels and 

B&Bs. Other amenities include a Theatre, cinema, 

boat trips along the Thames, self-guided walking 

trails and the national River & Rowing Museum.

Surrounded by beautiful countryside for walks 

along The Thames Path, the Chiltern Way or 

Sustrans cycle routes, there’s even an electric 

bicycle network or an Environment Trail for kids or 

fun-loving adults. Find out more at the information 

centre based in the Town Hall.

Download the self-guided walking trail of Henley’s 

Midsomer locations 

M4, junctions 

8 or 9

ACCESS VIA:

Z

 FILMED 
LOCATIONS

 EPISODES FILMED 
HERE

 LOCAL 
ATTRACTIONS

 PLACES TO EAT

 PLACES TO STAY

Page 50



Watlington

Further Afield

Marlow is without a doubt one of the loveliest locations on the River Thames. 

Situated on a broad sweep of the river between Henley and Windsor and 

alongside the woodlands of the Chiltern Hill. The charming Georgian market 

town is made up of historic streets, boutique shops and an abundance of 

character.

The historic market town of Marlow is home to ‘Causton’ Library featured in 

the episode ‘The Black Book’. Marlow library is where you will find the visitor 

information service and it’s a great place to start your exploration of the town.

Reputedly England’s smallest town offers, as well as 

interesting architecture and history, a curious white 

mark carved into the nearby hill. Legend has it the 

270ft triangular mark was designed by local squire 

Edward Horne in 1764 because he felt the church 

required a spire. Watlington is the heartland of the 

re-introduced red kites and is a wonderful vantage 

point to see these large and distinctive birds of 

prey in flight.

The library featured as Midsomer Library.

M40, junction 

6

ACCESS VIA:

Z

 FILMED 
LOCATIONS

 EPISODES FILMED 
HERE

 LOCAL 
ATTRACTIONS

 PLACES TO EAT

 PLACES TO STAY

Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 24 April 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S1830/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 29.5.2018
PARISH SYDENHAM
WARD MEMBER(S) Lynn Lloyd

Ian White
APPLICANT Mr Philip House
SITE Croxford's Orchard Sydenham Road Sydenham, 

OX39 4NE
PROPOSAL Construction of a new barn (as amended by plans 

received 4 September 2018  re-siting the barn a 
metre to the south, reducing its length by two 
metres, reducing its height and altering the design 
and materials to a feather edged boarding over a 
brick plinth wall and plain clay roof tiles).

OFFICER Victoria Clarke

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application is referred to the Planning Committee because the views of 

Sydenham Parish Council differ from the case officer’s recommend for approval.  

1.2 The application site is shown on the map attached at Appendix A.  The site consists 
of a 0.18 hectare plot of agricultural land set behind a row of residential dwellings that 
front onto Sydenham Road.  The site forms an independent agricultural unit that has 
historically been a small holding.  

1.3 The site is accessed via a narrow driveway that also serves a residential property 
(April Cottage) that is unconnected with the application site.  

1.4 Within the site there are two sheds and a greenhouse which are located towards the 
eastern end of the site near to the site’s access and part of the site is used for open 
storage of garden / farming equipment.  The site is bounded to the north and south 
primarily by fields.  There is a stream along the western boundary of the site and the 
very western edge of the site falls within Flood Zones 2 and 3 and forms part of the 
functional flood plain.  Beyond the stream to the west are allotments and open fields.  
Public footpaths run along the western boundary and close to part of the northern 
boundaries of the site.

1.5 The site falls within Sydenham conservation area.  Part of the southern boundary of 
the site abuts the residential curtilage of Vicarage End an early seventeenth century 
grade II listed house.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a barn, which would be 

finished with stone and brick walls and some timber weather-boarding and a plain clay 
tiled roof.  At the request of officers, the proposal has been amended to reduce the 
scale of the proposed barn.

2.2 The barn would be located at the eastern end of the site.  The plans are attached at 
Appendix B.

Page 57

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1830/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 24 April 2019

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Sydenham Parish Council – Object

 Increase in traffic using inadequate access that is of limited width and visibility 
onto Sydenham Road which lacks verge and footways.

 Substantial building that could be converted to a dwelling in an unsuitable 
backland location of the village that would be out of keeping with Sydenham and 
harmful to the conservation area and would extend the built-up limits of the 
village.

 Harm to privacy of nearby dwellings.

3.2 Conservation Officer - No strong views
 Proposal would not harm the significance of neighbouring listed building or the 

character and appearance of the conservation area.

3.3 Forestry Officer  - No strong views, subject to condition:
 Trees within the site are protected because they are located within the 

conservation area.  Amended plan has been submitted that overcomes 
concerns.

 General tree protection condition recommended to protect the hedgerow and 
the trees within it.

3.4 County Archaeological Services (Oxfordshire County Council) - No strong views
 No archaeological constraints.

3.5 SGN Plant Protection Team (Southern Gas Network) - No strong views
 Pipeline located on Sydenham Road outside of application site.
 Dig safely advice provided

3.6 Neighbours – Object
Five neighbours have objected to the proposal.  Raising the following issues:

 Increase to highway safety risk - very narrow drive for cars let alone tractors and 
combine harvesters etc., visibility from access extremely poor

 Use of access will cause noise / disturbance to adjoining properties
 Substantial barn building that may change to a backland dwelling that would be 

out of character with village
 Large building that would be out of keeping with an enclosed agricultural area
 Additional construction, agricultural and residential vehicular use of the access 

would be dangerous
 Backfill development out of keeping with character of Sydenham 
 The orchard sits within the conservation area, which is justified by the delicate 

balance of existing buildings and open space.  Development would upset the 
balance of existing buildings and open space

 Extension of built up area of village into the countryside
 Current semi-industrial use of the land is already inappropriate

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P75/N0342/O - Refused (29/07/1975) - Appeal dismissed (28/06/1976)

ONE DWELLINGHOUSE

P72/M1227 - Refused (16/01/1973)
Erection of one dwelling.

Page 58

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P75/N0342/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P72/M1227


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 24 April 2019

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance 

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
A1  -  Erection of agricultural building
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016

5.6 Draft Sydenham Neighbourhood Plan
The initial consultation period for the Sydenham Neighbourhood Pre-Submission Plan 
finished on 15th March 2019.  Feedback from the consultation is now being reviewed 
by the Sydenham Neighbourhood Plan Group, prior to the final version of the Plan 
being submitted to South Oxfordshire District Council for a further six-week publicity 
period.  It will then be submitted for independent examination in the summer.

SYD1- Village Boundary and Infill
SYD3- Design 
SYD4- Local Heritage Assets 
SYD5- Local Green Space 
SYD6- Local Gap 
SYD7- Important views

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered are: 

1. The acceptability of the principle of the development / the need for the building 
2. The impact on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area, 

including the conservation area and nearby listed building
3. The impact on the occupiers of neighbouring properties
4. Impact on the highway

6.2

The acceptability of the principle of the development / the need for the building 

The key policy for assessing this application is SOLP Policy A1 which relates to 
agricultural buildings.  

6.3 Policy A1 states that planning permission will normally be granted for agricultural 
buildings provided there is a need for the building which cannot satisfactorily be met by 
existing buildings or structures on the farm or nearby.  Proposals for agricultural 
buildings and structures, or alterations and extensions to existing buildings and 
structures, will be permitted provided that:

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 24 April 2019

(i) the siting of the building or structure would not be prominent in the landscape 
and would not damage the environment or the amenities of the occupants of 
nearby properties;
(ii) the design and materials to be used are in keeping with its surroundings, 
bearing in mind the particular needs of the farming industry, and that satisfactory 
landscaping is proposed; and 
(iii) wherever possible or acceptable, the development should be located close to 
existing buildings rather than in open countryside. 

6.4 The policy states: Where existing buildings or structures can no longer be used and 
replacement buildings or structures are required, then the redundant building or 
structure should be demolished and replaced by the new building in the same location, 
unless it can be demonstrated that this is impractical or inappropriate in a particular 
instance.

6.5 The applicant has submitted information stating that the existing sheds are not fit for his 
required use and the proposed building will be used to accommodate machinery and 
equipment used in connection with the maintenance of the land.  The equipment 
includes a couple of Allen Scythes, three rotavators and a ride-on mower with trailer.
Presently these are stored in rudimentary storage facilities – mainly outside because of 
their size – and the applicant is concerned about the levels of deterioration they are 
experiencing and the threat of theft.  In addition, the proposed building would be used 
for the storage of a horse-drawn wagon/caravan from 1900 and hay wain which the 
applicant wishes to restore.

6.6 The proposed restoration of the hay wain and horse-drawn wagon constitute a hobby 
rather than being strictly related to the maintenance of the land but both can be used in 
connection with agriculture.  Officers are satisfied that the proposed building is of a size 
and scale that is reasonably necessary for the other equipment that is used in 
connection for maintaining the land and that the existing buildings on the site cannot 
satisfactorily accommodate this equipment and machinery.  

6.7 The proposal initially involved the removal of one shed but the re-siting of the building 
has made it possible to retain the shed.  It is recommended that a condition be attached 
to ensure the two sheds on the site are removed from the site once the proposed 
building has been erected. 

6.8

The impact on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area, 
including the conservation area and nearby listed building

The proposed building would be positioned towards the north eastern corner of the site 
and would not be prominent in the landscape.  It would be positioned close to existing 
residential properties so that it would not encroach too far into open countryside. The 
vast majority of the site would remain undeveloped and therefore the contribution that 
the site makes to open space within the conservation area would be retained. The 
building would also be largely screened by existing hedgerow and boundary trees.  A 
hedgerow and tree protection condition is recommended (the trees within the site are 
protected because they fall within the conservation area). 

6.9 The proposed building would be simple and functional in terms of its scale and design 
and it would be in keeping with the character of the surrounding area.  The building would 
be finished in materials used on other buildings in the local area.  Its walls would be 
finished with timber weatherboarding on top of brick plinths and the roof would be covered 
with plain clay tiles.  

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 24 April 2019

6.10 In the opinion of officers, the proposed scale, siting, design and materials would be 
sensitive, and would not harm the character and appearance of the conservation area 
nor the setting the listed building nearby (Vicarage End).  

6.11

The impact on the occupiers of neighbouring properties

The proposed development would not damage the environment or the amenities of the 
occupants of nearby properties.  The site will continue to be used for the purposes of 
agriculture and the building primarily for storage of equipment in connection with the 
maintenance of the land.  The proposed building will be positioned sufficiently far from 
neighbouring properties to ensure it is not overbearing on them.

6.12 A high window is proposed on the eastern elevation facing towards April Cottage and 
Vicarage end but given its position and lack of first floor it would not result in 
overlooking.  Officers recommend a condition preventing the insertion of a first floor.

6.13 Consultees raised concerns that the building will be converted into a dwelling.  Such a 
change of use would require planning permission.  Given the site’s location just outside 
of the built-up limits of Sydenham, a new dwelling in this location would be contrary to 
current planning policy and the emerging Sydenham Neighbourhood Plan would not 
therefore be supported by officers.

6.14

Impact on the highway

The proposal does not involve any changes to the existing access arrangements to the 
site.  The erection of the agricultural building for storage would not result in significant 
intensification of the use of the access or the public highway.

6.15 Other matters

This type of development is not liable for community infrastructure levy.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan Policies and, subject to the 

attached conditions, would not materially harm the character and appearance of the 
site or the surrounding area, including the conservation area, would not harm the 
setting of the listed building, would not be unneighbourly and would not result in severe 
harm to highway safety.  Planning permission is therefore recommended subject to the 
suggested conditions.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commence the development within three years
2 : Development in accordance with the approved plans
3 : Materials as on plan
4 : Tree and hedge protection
5 : Use of the building restricted to agricultural use in connection with the land
6 : Demolish existing two sheds within two months of the first use of the 
     permitted building

Author: Victoria Clarke
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Contact no: 01235 422600 

Page 61



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 24 April 2019

 

Page 62



Appendix A

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



Page 64

SAV_NANSRI
Typewriter
Appendix B



P
age 65



P
age 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S4320/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 9.1.2019
PARISH HENLEY-ON-THAMES
WARD MEMBER(S) Stefan Gawrysiak

Lorraine Hillier
Joan Bland

APPLICANT Mr Groom
SITE 170 Greys Road Henley-On-Thames, RG9 1QR
PROPOSAL Proposed new dwelling (as amended by revised 

plans received 22nd February 2019, reducing the 
depth of the proposed front gable, reducing the 
number of bedrooms and amending the parking 
areas)

OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the planning committee as the officer’s recommendation 

of approval conflicts with the views of Henley Town Council.

1.2 The application site (shown on the map attached at Appendix A) is an existing plot of 
residential land to the east of no. 170 Greys Road, located towards the western end of 
Henley.  The site falls wholly within the built-up confines of the settlement and the 
surrounding land uses are all residential, with the nearest shops located 
approximately 260m to the north-east. The site does not fall within a designated area, 
such as a Conservation Area or Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. None of the 
trees within or adjacent to the site are covered by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO).

1.3 In 2016, full planning permission was granted for the erection of two new houses 
within the site (P16/S1039/FUL) with the intention for them to be constructed as a 
single operation. This was followed by consent for amendments to the design 
(P17/S2208/FUL). Most recently, permission was granted for a varation of the 
approved scheme in order to allow for the two dwellings to be constructed 
independently of each other and for the landscaping and other associated operations 
to be phased (P18/S3753/FUL). Henley Town Council raised no formal objections to 
any of these schemes.

Plans showing the previously approved design are attached at Appendix B.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, permission is now sought for a new 4-bed 

dwelling to replace one of the previously approved houses. The proposal would 
incorporate off street parking, private amenity space and revised access arrangements.

2.2 The current proposed site plans, elevations and floor plans are attached as Appendix 
C. All associated documents and consultation responses can be viewed on the 
council’s website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

Page 67

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4320/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1039/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Henley Town Council (HTC) – Objection

 05.02.19 Recommend refusal in line with the [withdrawn] Highways objections 
on the new access, refuse storage hasn’t been specified and over intensive 
building on a small plot.

 19.03.19 Recommend refusal. Changes are deemed to be minor. It is an 
overbearing size house for the size of plot.


The Henley Society – Objection

 The house, as proposed in the amended version of the application, is still too 
large for the site.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – 

 Initial holding objection in relation to practicalities of parking arrangement, lack 
of visibility splays and refuse storage provision

 Following the previous comments, the amended plans have addressed the 
issues raised - no objection subject to conditions.

Forestry Officer -  No objection to the proposed development subject to the general tree 
protection condition and a landscaping condition being attached.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S3753/FUL - Approved (11/02/2019)

Variation of conditions 2- approved plans, 3- boundary walls and fences, 4- turning area 
and car parking, 5- landscaping scheme, 6-withdrawal of P.D and 7- schedule of 
materials on application ref P17/S2208/FUL, in order to allow for the two dwellings to be 
constructed independently of each other. 

P17/S2208/FUL - Approved (24/08/2017)
Revised application for proposed two new houses on land East of 170 Greys Road, 
forming a joint application between Mr and Mrs Crockett at 170 and Mr and Mrs Clark 
172 Greys Road
related to P16/S1039/FUL

P16/S1039/FUL - Approved (09/08/2016)
Proposed two new houses on land East of 170 Greys Road (as amended by revised 
plans received 29 June 2016, amending position of dwelling, footprint and ridge 
heights)
related to P17/S2208/FUL

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 The Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan (JHHNP) policies;

Housing Strategy
Primary Housing Objectives H04
Policy H4 -  Infill and self-build dwellings
Policy DSQ1 – Local Character
Policy T1 – Impact of development upon the transport network

Page 68

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3753/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S2208/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1039/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSQ3  -  Design
CSHEN1  -  Strategy for Henley

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
D4  -  Privacy
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Vehicle and bicycle parking
D3 - Plot coverage and parking areas
D10 - Waste management
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are: 

1. The principle of the development
2. The impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area
3. The impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers
4. Highway considerations

Principle of development

6.2 There is an extant permission for a 4-bed dwelling within the site, expiring in August 
2019. There have been no material changes to the Development Plan since the 
previous approval and the principle of housing in this location remains acceptable, in 
accordance with SOCS Policy CSHEN1 and JHHNP Policy H4.

Scale and design

6.3 The proposed dwelling would be sited mostly within the footprint of the previously 
approved dwelling. It would be approximately 1m wider at first floor level, with additional 
ground floor projections, but there would also be a significant reduction in the first floor 
depth. The amount of private amenity space would be around 200 sq. metres, 
significantly greater than the 100 sq. metres recommended under Section 7 of the 
SODG, and the level of plot coverage would be well below 40%. Officers are satisfied 
that the amount of built development is not excessive, and the scheme would continue 
to respond appropriately to the surrounding grain of housing, in accordance with SOLP 
Policy D3. 
 

Page 69



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

6.4 With regard to the appearance of the dwelling within the street scene, the proposed 
building would have a very similar height to the previous approval and it has been 
amended in order to significantly reduce the depth of the proposed projecting front 
gable. The full extent of the additional ground floor side/ rear accommodation would not 
be readily apparent in views from outside the confines of the application site and it 
would be visually subservient to the main body of the house. Had the side and rear 
projections been omitted at this stage and planning permission sought at a later date 
under the householder application process, it is unlikely that permission would be 
refused. 

6.5 Irrespective of the greater width at first floor level, there would be a generous 10-13m 
setback from the highway. Viewing this scheme in the context of the substantial building 
forms along this stretch of Greys Road, many of which are significantly and noticeably 
larger than what is now proposed, officers consider that the bulk and massing of the 
amended dwelling would not result in a visually incongruous or cramped form of 
development.

6.6 It is noted that the current design would take some cues from the form and detailing at 
a number of dwellings within the locality. Whilst the dwelling would sit alongside a 
neighbouring property with a more contemporary form and finish, officers note the 
general architectural variety and bespoke nature of the surrounding built form which 
characterises this part of Henley. The scheme in its current form would add visual 
interest to the street scene rather than causing material harm to its overall character 
and appearance.  Officers consider that the scheme complies with the design 
objectives of the Development Plan, as articulated under JHHNP Policy DSQ1, SOCS 
Policy CSQ3 and SOLP Policy D1.

Landscape Features

6.7 The proposal is not accompanied by detailed landscaping measures, though the 
submitted site plan does provide a fair indication over the extent of hardstanding and 
garden area. Having re-visited the site recently, a significant amount of vegetation and 
non-protected trees have been cleared from the site, impacting upon its previous 
verdant character. Officers consider that additional landscaping detail is reasonably 
required in this instance, in order to secure replacement planting along the rear site 
boundary. The agent is content for this detail to be secured by condition. 

Neighbouring amenity

6.8 It is noted that no neighbour objections to the scheme were received and Henley Town 
Council’s outstanding issues relate to the level of development from a visual 
perspective. 

6.9 Having regard to the scale of the proposal, the orientation of the dwellings, the existing 
boundary treatments and the distances to the nearest dwellings, officers are satisfied 
that there would not be a material loss of daylight or sunlight to any of the neighbouring 
properties. Furthermore, the privacy impact would be no greater than the previous 
extant approval, subject to the use of obscure glazing to the first floor side and 
projecting rear bathroom windows. 

6.10 The relationship with Greenacres to the rear was considered in detail under the original 
application and deemed by the council to be acceptable. Furthermore, the relationship 
would improve significantly should the recently-approved contemporary replacement 
(P18/S4134/FUL) be constructed. That approval would move the dwelling within that 
property significantly further from the shared boundary with the application site. 

Page 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

Highway safety

6.11 As with the previously approved scheme, the application would incorporate adequate 
parking and turning provision for both the existing dwelling at no. 170 and for the new 
property, in accordance with the adopted standards set out under Appendix 5 to the 
SOLP. Refuse storage is now incorporated into the layout and the Local Highways 
Authority raise no objection. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

The current proposal is CIL liable. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal is in accordance with the relevant Development Plan policies and national 

planning policy.  The proposed development would not cause material harm to the 
character and appearance of the site, the street scene or the local highway network. 
The proposal is also considered acceptable in terms of its impact upon the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers, subject to the attached conditions.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission, subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement with 3 years - Full Planning Permission

2 : Development to be implemented in accordance with the approved plans, 
     unless varied by other conditions of consent. 

3 : A schedule of all external materials shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
     authority for approval prior to commencement of the scheme. 

4 : Details of landscaping measures (including hard surfacing and boundary 
     treatment) shall be submitted and agreed by the Local Planning authority prior 
     to commencement of the development and implemented prior to first  
     occupation. 

5 : Tree protection measures to be agreed prior to commencement and retained 
      throughout the course of the development.

6: Obscure glazing to be applied to the first floor side and first floor rear 
    bathroom windows prior to first occupation of the dwelling. The windows shall
    be fixed shut where below 1.7m from the finished floor level in each associated
    room. 

7: Removal of Permitted Development rights for subsequent extensions, in the 
    interests of visual and neighbouring amenity.

8: Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, parking and manoeuvring areas are to 
    be provided as on plan and retained free from obstruction. 

9: No changes shall be made to the levels within the site, unless in accordance 
    with a detailed scheme first agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 

Author:        Simon Kitson
Email:          Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Contact No:  01235 422600

Page 71



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

 

Page 72



Appendix A

Page 73

Agenda Item 11



45°mm

0 5m 10m

2593mm

21101112

17

18

20

19

16

15

13

14

+77.010

S
L
O

P
E

 1
:1

2

S
L
O

P
E

 1
:1

8

+ 75.550

+ 75.540 + 75.540

TERRACE

7

6

.

8

9

7

6

.
9

8

STEP

STEP

S
T
E

P

TOP OF RAMP

BASE OF RAMP

T
O

P
 O

F
 R

A
M

P

B
A

S
E

 O
F

 R
A

M
P

+75.610

Existing drop kerb

new drop kurb

xxx

A-A

17

18

19

20

21

22

241213

14

15

16

23

45°mm

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2017

Project: 166 - 168 Greys Road

Drawings: 041/PA2/003 - rev A proposed site plan

Scale : 1 / 200 @ A3

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

172 Greys Road

170 Greys Road

Communal
drive / entrance

168 Greys Road
166 Greys Road

Indicative planting

Rev A - 10 / 08 / 2017 - Gates to no.166 omitted

Appendix B

P
age 74



0 5m 10m

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2017

Project: 166 - 168 Greys Road

Drawings: 041/PA2/014 - Front and rear elevations

Scale : 1 / 100 @ A3

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Proposed front elevations

Proposed rear elevations

B
o
u
n
d

a
ry

166 Greys Road168 Greys Road

B
o
u
n
d

a
ry

166 Greys Road 168 Greys Road

Slate roof

Roof light

Timber cladding detail

Porch

Painted brick

Slate roof

Roof light

White render finish

Brick plinth detail

Slate roof

Timber cladding detail

Painted brick

Slate roof

White render finish

Brick plinth detail

P
age 75



BEDROOM 03

BEDROOM 02

BEDROOM 01

FAMILY BATH /
SHOWER ROOM

34

30

31

33

32

29

232425

28

26

27

30

31

32

33

34

35

372526

27

28

29

36

BEDROOM 01

BEDROOM 03

FAMILY BATH /
SHOWER ROOM

BEDROOM 02

0 5m 10m

SECTION LEVEL LOWERED FOR CLARITY

SECTION LEVEL LOWERED FOR CLARITY

34

30

31

33

32

29

3536
37

38

30

31

29

32

33

34

35

3738
39

BEDROOM 04

BEDROOM 04

0 5m 10m

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2017

Project: 166 - 168 Greys Road

Drawings: 041/PA2/011 - First floor and loft level plan

Scale : 1 / 100 @ A3

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Proposed loft level plans

Proposed first floor plans

B
o
u
n
d

a
ry

166 Greys Road168 Greys Road

P
age 76



Appendix C

P
age 77



P
age 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S4111/FUL & P18/S4112/LB
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION & LISTED BUILDING 

CONSENT
REGISTERED 12.12.2018
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS David Dodds & Nigel Champken-Woods &

Jeannette Matelot
APPLICANT Vintage and Modern Guitars Ltd
SITE 1a Cornmarket, Thame, Oxon, OX9 3DX
PROPOSAL Change of use of premises from retail (A1 use) to a 

2-bedroom dwelling (C3 use) incorporating external 
alterations.

OFFICER Paul Lucas

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Officers recommend that planning permission and listed building consent are granted. 

This report explains how officers have reached this conclusion. The application is 
referred to the planning committee due to officers’ recommendation conflicting with 
Thame Town Council’s recommendation of refusal.

1.2 The application site is identified at Appendix A. It comprises a retail premises lying in 
Thame Town Centre, but outside the primary shopping frontage. It fronts onto a back 
street called The Shambles, comprising a mixture of uses, located between the main 
retail thoroughfares of Cornmarket and Buttermarket. It lies close to other premises 
that front onto Cornmarket and Buttermarket, including The Bird Cage Inn at 4 
Cornmarket. The premises is Grade II listed and resides within Thame Conservation 
Area.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The applications seek full planning permission for change of use from retail to 

residential and listed building consent for works to facilitate the conversion of the 
premises, as shown on the plans and supporting documents submitted with the 
applications. 

2.2 The applications follow on from a previous set of applications for the same change of 
use and works that were refused in 2018, as discussed in Section 4.0 below. The 
current applications plans are shown at Appendix B. Other supporting documents can 
be found on the Council’s website.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council - Objects

1. Loss of retail space
2. Poor residential amenity for future occupiers – the location is inappropriate for a
    residential dwelling

Environmental Protection Team – No objection subject to implementation of 
recommended mitigation condition

Conservation Officer – No objection subject to listed building details conditions

Thame Conservation Area Advisory Committee - No strong views

Page 79

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4111/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S4111/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1

4.2

P18/S1908/FUL - Refused (17/08/2018)
Proposed internal and external alterations. Conversion to single dwelling.
In the absence of an acoustic report and recommended mitigation, the proposed 
development would lack sufficient information to demonstrate that the residential 
amenity of future occupiers could be adequately protected from external noise 
nuisance. As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policies G2, EP2 and H4 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

P18/S1909/LB - Refused (17/08/2018)
Proposed internal and external alterations. Conversion to single dwelling.
In the absence of an acoustic report and recommended mitigation, the proposed 
development would lack sufficient information to demonstrate that the residential 
amenity of future occupiers could be adequately protected from external noise nuisance 
without the need for works that would result in a loss of significance to this Grade II 
listed building. As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policy CSEN3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policies CON3 and CON4 of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2011 and advice contained within Paragraphs 193 and 194 of the NPPF.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEM1 -  Supporting a successful economy
CSEM4 -  Supporting economic development
CSEN3 -  Historic environment
CSQ3 -  Design
CSS1 -  The Overall Strategy
CST1 -  Town centres and shopping
CSTHA1 -  The Strategy for Thame

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
CF3 -  Retention of shops
CON3 -  Alteration to listed building
CON4  -  Change of use of listed buildings
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1 -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2 -  Protect district from adverse development
E6 -  Loss of employment uses
EP2 -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
TC8 -  Change of use between shop to non-shop use

5.3 Thame Neighbourhood Plan policies;
H5 Integrate windfall sites
WS2 Retain and enhance primary and secondary retail frontages
WS7 Retain small scale employment in the town centre
WS12 Retain existing employment land in employment use
WS13 Support improvements to existing employment areas
ESDQ15 Developers must demonstrate in a Design and Access Statement how their 
proposed development reinforces Thame’s character

Page 80

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1908/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1909/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

ESDQ16 Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings
ESDQ19 The Design and Access Statement and accompanying drawings must provide 
sufficient detail for proposals to be properly understood
ESDQ20 Building style must be appropriate to the historic context
ESDQ27 Design in the ‘forgotten’ elements from the start of the design process
ESDQ28 Provide good quality private outdoor space
ESDQ29 Design car parking so that it fits in with the character of the proposed 
development
D1 Provide appropriate new facilities

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
The policies within the SOCS and the SOLP 2011 and TNP of relevance to this 
application are in general conformity with the provisions of the NPPF and NPPG and 
therefore this application can be determined against these relevant policies.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered for the planning application are as follows:-

 Whether the principle of the proposed change of use is acceptable
 The impact upon the character and appearance of the site or the wider 

conservation area
 The impact upon neighbouring amenity 
 Whether the proposal would be prejudicial to highway safety

6.2 The issue relevant to the listed building consent application is whether:
The works would have an adverse impact upon the special architectural and historic 
interest of the Grade II listed building or its setting.

6.3 Principle of Development
Policy WS2 of the TNP restricts changes of use of shops (Class A1) to a non-retail uses 
within the Primary Retail Frontage (PSF). Policy WS2 states that “In order to maintain 
the shopping function of the primary retail frontages the introduction of new non-retail 
uses such as banks and building societies, cafes, restaurants and the like (Classes A2, 
A3, A4 and A5) will be restricted at ground floor level to a maximum of 35% of the sum 
total of the length of primary retail frontages, as defined in figure 8.1” Figure 8.1 within 
the TNP shows the primary retail frontage area highlighted in blue. This map within the 
TNP is small and larger version of the primary retail frontages can be found within 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Adopted Policies Map for Thame also 
highlighted in blue. Policy TC8 of the SOLP 2011 states that “Within the primary 
shopping frontages in each town centre shown on the Proposals Map, the change of 
use of a shop (Class A1) to a non-shop use will not be permitted if it would undermine 
the vitality and viability, and the dominant retailing character and function, of the 
primary shopping frontages in each centre.”

6.4 However, the proposals map shows that the site lies outside the primary shopping 
frontage, as confirmed by the Council’s Economic Development Team and therefore 
the provisions of the TNP Policy WS2 and the SOLP 2011 Policy TC8 do not apply to 
this site. Whilst officers understand Thame Town Council’s view that the premises could 
be attractive to another retailer, which would help to maintain vitality and viability in the 
town centre, in the absence of any Development Plan policy conflict, officers are unable 
to justify refusal of planning permission on those grounds. The principle of change of 
use of the premises is therefore acceptable. It is also a material planning consideration 
that the previous planning application was not refused on these grounds.

Page 81



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

6.5 Visual Impact
The proposal would involve limited external alterations to the building, such that the 
proposal would not result in harm to character or appearance of the site or the 
surrounding Thame Conservation Area in accordance with the SOCS Policy CSEN3 
and the SOLP 2011 Policy CON7.

6.6 Residential Amenity Impact
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
amenity objections. Policy D4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that all new dwellings should 
be designed and laid out to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers. 
Policy EP2 seeks to ensure that existing and future residential occupiers are not 
harmed by noise nuisance. The lack of a garden area would be acceptable for future 
occupiers given the sustainable location and good access to public open space. There 
would be no physical impact upon adjoining residents and there would be unlikely to be 
any noise nuisance from the change of use of this unit, including the relationship with 
the adjoining courtyard garden to No.1. The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer 
is satisfied that the acoustic report submitted with the applications has demonstrated 
that the improvements to glazing would provide sufficient mitigation to protect the future 
occupiers from the impact of nearby external noise sources in the town centre. On this 
basis, the proposal would accord with the above policies.

6.7

6.8

6.9

Listed Building Issues
Policy CSEN3 seeks to ensure that the historic significance of heritage assets is 
protected. Policies CON3 and CON4 of the SOLP 2011 state that alterations and 
changes of use to a listed building must respect its established character and not 
diminish its special historical or architectural interest. The Council’s Conservation 
Officer is satisfied that the submitted acoustic report has demonstrated that no further 
works would be required beyond the approved glazing to achieve the level of insulation 
to meet the EPO’s requirements. Although concerns remain about the breathability of 
the proposed thermal insulation, this is not required for soundproofing and therefore the 
Conservation Officer has agreed with the applicant that final details could be secured 
through a pre-commencement condition. As such, the proposal would prevent loss of 
significance to the listed building in compliance with the above policies.

Access and Parking
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
highway objections. Policy T1 of the SOLP 2011 seeks to ensure that all new 
development would provide a safe and convenient access for all users of the highway. 
The Highway Liaison Officer has previously commented that the parking requirement 
for a dwelling compared with the existing situation for the shop would not be increased. 
He also considered that the proposal would be unlikely to have a significant adverse 
impact on the highway network. Given the sustainable nature of the site in terms of 
walking, cycling and public transport and in its proximity to the town centre it is 
considered ideal for a “car free” development, furthermore given the parking controls 
within the vicinity this will limit indiscriminate/obstructive and or unauthorised parking. 
As mentioned no sole person has the right to park a vehicle on the land in The 
Shambles. This would be considered a private legal matter and would not impact upon 
highway safety to warrant a recommendation for refusal on those grounds.

Community Infrastructure Levy
The proposal would not be CIL liable as there would be no additional floorspace and 
the floorspace to be converted is in active use.

Page 82



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1

7.2

The planning application would accord with Development Plan Policies, Supplementary 
Planning Guidance and Government Guidance, because, subject to the conditions 
below, it would be acceptable in principle, safeguard residential amenity, respect the 
architectural and historic interest and setting of the listed building and avoid conditions 
prejudicial to highway and pedestrian safety.

The listed building consent application would accord with Development Plan Policies, 
Supplementary Planning Guidance and Government Guidance; because it would 
respect the special architectural and historic interest of this listed building and its 
setting.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission

1 : Commencement 3 years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Withdrawal of Permitted Development Extensions & Rooflights*
4 : Implementation of sound insulation glazing

Grant Listed Building Consent

1 : Commencement 3 years - Listed Building Consent
2 : Approved plans (listed building) 
3 : Works to match existing
4 : Submission of details 

a. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans all thermal 
     insulation
b. Any new flues and extracts

Author: Paul Lucas
Email:   planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:        01235 422600

 

Page 83

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Printed on 14/12/2018 11:46:20
   for BCP

This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2018

Reference:P18/S4111/FUL
Page 85

Agenda Item 12

SAV_NANSRI_1
Typewriter
Appendix A



Appendix B

P
age 86



P
age 87



P
age 88



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0095/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 15.1.2019
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS David Dodds

Nigel Champken-Woods
Jeannette Matelot

APPLICANT Buildright (UK) Ltd
SITE Windrush Bridge Terrace Thame, Oxon, OX9 3LU

PROPOSAL Variation of condition 2 on application 
P15/S3607/FUL to permit the introduction of 5 
rooflights to facilitate loft conversions.

(Demolition of existing dwelling at Windrush and 
erection of pair of semi-detached dwellings and one 
detached dwelling).

OFFICER Tom Wyatt

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee as the Officers’ recommendation 

conflicts with the views of Thame Town Council. 

1.2 The application site, which is shown on the OS extract attached at Appendix A, 
comprises three dwellings that are nearing completion following the grant of planning 
permission on appeal under application P15/S3607/FUL. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks planning permission to vary the approved plans specified in 

Condition 2 of the original planning permission to allow for the installation of 5 rooflights 
within the semi-detached properties (Units 1 and 2) as part of a proposal to convert the 
loft area of each dwelling to form a further bedroom.  A copy of the plans approved 
under application P15/S3607/FUL is attached as Appendix B whilst a copy of the 
proposed plans is attached as Appendix C and other documentation associated with 
the application can be viewed on the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk. 

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council – Objects on the following grounds: 

- Overdevelopment
- Insufficient parking
- Unneighbourly

Neighbours – 3 representations of objection have been submitted raising the following 
concerns: 

- Permitted development restrictions were imposed by the Inspector in allowing 
the appeal

- The building as constructed is higher than originally approved
- Loss of privacy 
- Reasons for objecting to the original application remain unchanged
- Occupancy would increase, leading to overdevelopment and increased traffic 

Page 89

Agenda Item 13

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0095/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0189/FUL – Recommendation of approval

Formation of new parking area and enlargement of rear gardens

P15/S3607/FUL - Refused (30/03/2016) - Appeal allowed (20/10/2016)
Demolition of existing dwelling at Windrush and erection of pair of semi-detached 
dwellings and one detached dwelling (as amended to reduce the size of the dwellings 
and provide new vehicular access off Cotmore Gardens)

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSM1  -  Transport
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSTHA1  -  The Strategy for Thame

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) Policies;
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6  -  Community safety
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) Policies;
GA6 – Car parking
H5 – Integrate windfall sites
H6 – Design new development to be of high quality
H7 – Provide new facilities
ESDQ16 – Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings
ESDQ18 – Sense of place
ESDQ19 – Details of proposal
ESDQ26 – Traditional design
ESDQ27 – Inclusive design
ESDQ28 – Private outdoor space
ESDQ29 – Car parking design
D1 – Provide appropriate new facilities

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Page 90

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3607/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main planning considerations in relation to this proposal are: 

1. The impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area
2. The impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers
3. Other material considerations

6.2

The Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Site and Surrounding Area

In his decision notice allowing the appeal against the refusal of application 
P15/S3607/FUL the Inspector explained that, ‘in order to protect the character and 
appearance of the building and the area, a condition is also required to restrict 
permitted development rights for extensions to the buildings, enlargements to the roof 
and buildings incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse.’  Therefore, Condition 9 
of the planning permission was imposed, which has removed permitted development 
rights for extensions and alterations to the dwellings.  Without such a restriction the 
rooflights now proposed could be installed without the need for planning permission 
following the completion of the dwellings. However, it should be noted that the internal 
works to convert the lofts into bedroom accommodation could still be carried out without 
the need for planning permission.

6.3 The removal of permitted development rights does not mean that alterations or 
extensions to the dwellings are unacceptable in principle.  It solely means that planning 
permission will be required for such development, and it therefore falls to be assessed 
against the relevant development plan policies. 

6.4 The proposed rooflights would be inserted in the rear and side facing elevations of the 
semi-detached properties.  The rooflights represent modest alterations to the external 
roofs of the dwellings that would be in keeping with the character and appearance of 
the surrounding built form where rooflights are not uncommon and they would not be 
visually prominent in any public view.  As such the rooflights as proposed accord with 
the relevant development plan policies listed above. 

6.5

The Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring Occupiers

The rooflights in the rear elevation would be discreet and would only allow very limited 
views towards neighbouring properties. Furthermore, due to the height and position of 
the proposed rooflights in the side elevations of the dwellings and the relationship with 
the adjoining properties there would be very little opportunity for overlooking towards 
neighbouring living areas or gardens.  As such the rooflights would not adversely affect 
the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.  
 

6.6

6.7

Other Material Considerations

This proposal should be viewed in context with application P19/S0189/FUL, which 
seeks to extend the garden areas and relocate and increase the parking areas 
associated with the three dwellings.  The parking would increase from six to eight 
spaces and this additional provision would be sufficient to accommodate any increase 
in the occupancy of the dwellings.  

It became apparent, during the assessment of this application, that the height of the 
semi-detached dwellings as constructed is approximately 0.3 metres higher than the 
height as shown on the plans approved under application P15/S3607/FUL.  Whilst it is 
regrettable that these dwellings were not constructed strictly in accordance with the 

Page 91



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 24 April 2019

original approved plans, the modest additional height does not make a material 
difference to the impact of the development on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.  Having regard to this lack 
of harm it would not be expedient for the council to pursue enforcement action 
regarding this matter.  This current application also serves to regularise the 
development as built.   

6.8 The additional floor space would be liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL).  

6.9 As this is an application to vary Condition 2 of the original planning permission, all of 
the other conditions imposed on this permission will still apply where relevant and are 
outlined in the recommendation below. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application proposal is in accordance with relevant development plan policies and 

national planning policy, as it is considered that the proposed rooflights would be in 
keeping with the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area and would 
not harm the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission in accordance with the approved details

subject to the following conditions

1 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
2 : Parking and turning in accordance with the approved plans
3 : Levels to be in accordance with details approved under application 
     P17/S1240/DIS
4 : Landscaping to be in accordance with details approved under application 
     P17/S1240/DIS
5 : Implementation of planting and seeding within the first planting season 
     following occupation of the development
6 : First floor side facing windows to be glazed with obscure glass
7 : Removal of permitted development rights for extensions, alterations and 
     outbuildings
8 : Vehicular access as shown on the approved plans only

Author: Tom Wyatt
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:        01235 422600

 

Page 92



Appendix A

Page 93

Agenda Item 13



Appendix BP
age 94



Appendix C

P
age 95



P
age 96


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes , 10/04/2019 Planning Committee

	8 P18/S3531/FUL - Unit 3, Wenman Road, Thame
	Appendices A-B
	2 Location Plan drwgno PL-01
	1237_PL-01 Site Location Plan

	2a Block Plan Proposed Existing drwgno PL-02A
	1237_PL-02A Existing and Proposed Site Layout Plan

	2b Elevations & Sections Existing drwgno PL-05
	1237_PL-05 Existing Elevations and Sections

	2c Elevations and Sections Proposed drwgno PL-06A
	1237_PL-06A Proposed Elevations and Sections

	2d Floor Plan Ground Existing and Proposed drwgno PL-03D
	1237_PL-03D Existing and Proposed Ground Floor

	2e Floor Plan First Existing and Proposed drwgno PL-04C
	1237_PL-04C Existing and Proposed First Floor

	2f Disable Changing Room Layout drwgno PL-08A
	1237_PL-08A Disable changing room layout

	Site Layout with on-street parking Proposed drwgno PL-07A
	1237_PL-07A Proposed Site Layout with              on-street parking



	9 P18/S2735/LB - Various Listed Buildings, Thame Town Centre, Thame
	Appendices A-C
	Appendix A.1
	Appendix A.2
	Appendix B.1
	Appendix B.2
	Appendix B.3
	Appendix B.4
	Appendix B.5
	Appendix B.6
	Appendix C.1
	Appendix C.2


	10 P18/S1830/FUL - Croxford's Orchard, Sydenham Road, Sydenham, OX39 4NE
	Appendices A-B
	Appendix A
	Appendix B - 1 Site Photographs Existing drwgno 03 B
	Appendix B - 2 Block and Location Plan drwgno 01 Rev B
	Appendix B - 3 Floor Plan & Elevations Proposed drwgno 02 Rev B


	11 P18/S4320/FUL - 170 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 1QR
	Appendices A-C
	1 4c1055cdd832468db699f2409df5f56c
	2 Site Plan Proposed drwgno 041 PA2 003 A
	Sheets and Views
	041PA2_003


	2a Elevation Plan Proposed drwgno 041 PA2 014
	Sheets and Views
	170515 - Layout-041PA2_014


	2b Floor Plan First and Loft Proposed drwgno 041 PA2 011
	Sheets and Views
	170515 - Layout-041PA2_011


	3 Site Location and Block Plans drwgno 1 Rev A
	3a Elevations and Floor Plans Proposed drwngo  2 Rev A


	12 P18/S4111/FUL & P18/S4112/LB - 1a Cornmarket, Thame, OX9 3DX
	Appendices A-B
	1 GIS Extract a
	2 Location and Block Plan drwgno 3
	2a Elevation Floor Plans Existing drwgno 1
	2b Elevation Floor Plans Proposed drwgno 2a


	13 P19/S0095/FUL - Windrush Bridge Terrace, Thame, OX9 3LU
	Appendices A-C
	1 GIS plan
	2 Elevations and floor plan proposed drwgno 3b
	3 Location and block plan drwgno 6c
	3a Elevations and floor plan proposed drwgno 3d






Printed on 25/10/2018 09:36:20
   for BCP


This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2018


Reference:P18/S3531/FUL







